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BUSINESS REPORT 
 

 
 
OPEARTING ENVIRONMENT 
 
 
International macroeconomic environment 
 
Significant changes took place in the communication, decisions and monetary policy 
outlook of the central banks of developed markets in 2019: while at the end of 2018 
the US central bank, the Fed and the European Central Bank (ECB) were on the verge 
of monetary tightening, both central banks have taken the path of monetary easing. 
 
Economic growth in the euro area has slowed steadily since 2018, showing only 0.9% 
GDP growth in the last quarter of 2019, compared with 1.2% a year earlier. In 
addition, inflation in the area was far below the central bank's target for 2019, with 
an average annual rate of 1.2% in 2019. 
 
In 2019, two global risk factors were in focus in the world: the UK's exit from the 
European Union (Brexit) and trade tensions between the US and China. 
 
The UK House of Commons repeatedly rejected the UK-EU exit agreement in 2019, 
resulting in several postponements of the Brexit deadline during the year, with the 
last amendment changing to 31 January 2020. In addition, on December 12, early 
elections were held in the country, where the formerly ruling Conservative Party had 
won by leaps and bounds, leading to Brexit. 
 
In 2019, trade tensions between the US and China escalated further, with a number 
of serious trade-restrictive measures taken by both sides, and a series of mutually 
increasing import surcharges. Uncertainty over trade tensions has continued, but it is 
a positive development that by the end of 2019, a first-stage agreement between the 
US and China has been established, following which negotiations will continue. 
 
Hungarian macroeconomic environment 
 
Overall, in 2019, the Hungarian economic growth was 4.9% compared to 2018, 
slightly lagging behind the 2018 GDP growth of 5.1%. Increase in employment and 
wages, as well as continued high levels of consumer confidence, contributed 
significantly to consumption growth.  
 
At the same time, domestic economic growth is expected to slow down from 2020, 
mainly due to the slowdown in the growth of consumption and investment. The 
former is due to the expected low level of employment growth and slowing wage 
dynamics, which may be partly offset by high consumer confidence and savings in 
previous years. In addition, the decline in EU funds in government investment is 
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holding back growth dynamics, while private investment is expected to slow down 
most after 2019. 
 
By the end of 2019, the general government debt-to-GDP ratio had fallen to 66.4% 
from 70.2% at the end of 2018. 
 
In 2019, annual inflation was 3.4% on average, which meant that inflationary 
pressures increased from the 2.8% average in 2018. In addition, in December 2019 
the domestic price level deteriorated by 4%, bringing inflation to the upper limit of 
the NBH's tolerance band. Domestic inflation may accelerate further in 2020, mainly 
due to buoyant domestic economic activity and the weaker forint exchange rate. 
Domestic pressure also remained high in 2019, with domestic core inflation 
averaging 3.8%. Core inflation will continue to rise in excess of the overall decline in 
price levels in 2020, close to 4%. 
 
While the NBH moved towards monetary policy normalization in the first quarter of 
2019 (raising its overnight deposit rate in March), monetary conditions remained 
unchanged in Hungary in the subsequent quarters, despite strong internal pressures. 
In addition to the increasingly bleak global economic outlook, the Fed's and ECB's 
monetary policy easing has also contributed. 
 
High domestic pressures, as well as their likely persistence and even possible 
exacerbation, may cause the NBH to fine-tune its monetary policy instruments in 
2020, but it is not expected to raise the base rate. However, it is important to see 
that due to international circumstances there is no compulsion to tighten at the NBH, 
and looser monetary policy conditions are expected globally for longer than 
previously expected. 
 
In the Hungarian government securities market, in spite of fluctuations, but overall, a 
significant decline in yields was observed in 2019: while at the beginning of January 
the 10-year domestic government securities yield was still 2.86%, the rate declined to 
2.01% by the end of December. (reaching its low of 1.47% in August, followed by 
correction and paging). 
 
Overview of the banking sector1 
 
In 2019, both retail and corporate loans continued to grow: the portfolio increased 
by nearly HUF 2,000 billion, further boosting the balance sheet total of the credit 
institution sector. Household loans increased by 15.6 per cent between December 
2018 and December 2019, while corporate loans also increased significantly, by 11.3 
per cent year-on-year. The NHP fixed program, the launch of Babaváró Loans, the 
launch of MÁP + in the field of savings and the NKP on corporate resources had a 
significant impact on loan growth. In addition to corporate lending, the SME sector's 
loan portfolio grew by more than 15%, contributing to corporate credit expansion. 
 

                                                 
1 Source: NBH 
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While banks' profitability has slightly decreased, it remains high in international 
comparison. Reversal of impairment played a decreasing but still important role in 
profitability in the first half of 2019. Banks need to take further efficiency measures 
to ensure sustainable profitability: significant improvement in sustainable 
profitability requires significant convergence in both efficiency indicators and 
digitalisation of the banking system. The banking system's consolidated capital 
adequacy ratio was 17.9% in September 2019, and all credit institutions met the 
required solvency requirements. The external vulnerability of credit institutions is 
historically low, with the balance sheet total of short-term external liabilities standing 
at only 4.6% at the end of June 2019. 
 
Worsening external trade and geopolitical tensions in 2019 and deteriorating 
external environment in some regions have worsened the outlook for domestic 
economic growth and thus puts the domestic banking system at risk for 2020. 
 
Expected effects of the coronavirus (COVID-19) 
 
The outbreak of the COVID-19 coronavirus will result in increased risks in 2020, which 
could have an impact on lending activity and economic growth. At present, the 
impact cannot be quantified due to the rapidly changing situation. MKB Bank 
supports the measures to prevent the spread of the virus with its available resources, 
while striving to keep its operation as smooth as possible. The Bank is constantly 
assesses the impact of the rapidly changing situation on its customers, and is 
analyses the possibility of customer support solutions. The Bank expects a real 
financial impact only in the case of a prolonged situation that significantly impedes 
the operation of businesses (for example a total retail ban, state measures, taking 
over control). 
 
Changes in macroeconomic parameters used in impairment calculations and 
unfavourable results of sectors affected by the COVID pandemic might result in not 
yet quantifiable changes in impairment losses on loan receivables. However, the 
trigger event occurred in the 2020 business year, so its effects will be included in the 
2020 Management report. 
 
 
PERFORMACE OF THE MKB GROUP AND MKB BANK IN 2019 
 
MKB Group 
 
The Group's (consolidated) IFRS total assets amounted to HUF 1,759.8 billion at the 
end of 2019, down 5.3% year-on-year. The portfolio of customer loans increased by 
3.9% to HUF 930.3 billion, while customer deposits dropped by 10.6% to HUF 1,226.5 
billion. The Group’s profitability improved considerably in 2019: its profit after taxes 
grew to HUF 44.1 billion from HUF 25.1 billion in 2018. 
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The Group's financial and business fundamentals, including capitalisation, liquidity, 
funding structure, balance sheet structure and the performance of its business lines, 
are stable. 
 
MKB Bank 
 
The Bank (separate) IFRS total assets amounted to HUF 1,772.5 billion at the end of 
2019, down 4.6% year-on-year. The portfolio of customer loans increased by 3.4% to 
HUF 923.9 billion, while customer deposits dropped by 10.4% to HUF 1,237.3 billion. 
The Bank’s profitability improved considerably in 2019: its profit after taxes grew to 
HUF 42.0 billion from HUF 25.3 billion in 2018. 
 
The Bank's financial and business fundamentals, including capitalisation, liquidity, 
funding structure, balance sheet structure and the performance of its business lines, 
are stable. 
 
 
PERFORMANCE OF THE INDIVIDUAL BUSINESS LINES2 

 
Retail segment 
 
In line with our strategic priorities, the retail and small business lines were merged in 
2019 to achieve a higher level of customer service at the branch network and a 
significant increase in customer value. The developments in 2019 were aimed at 
increasing the number of customers, lending and the premium segment, thus 
increasing the market share of the business line. In addition to organic growth, the 
Bank has emphasized its corporate relationships, strategic partnerships with its 
subsidiaries, leveraging synergies, MKB Pension Fund, MKB-Pannonia Health and 
Mutual Fund and MKB-Euroleasing. 
 
Retail borrowing followed the upward trend of previous years: a further 2.2% year-
on-year, taking into account the Family Protection Action Plan launched in July. The 
possibility of fulfilling the demands of the population was further increased by the 
wider range of available state subsidies, and the partners also had strong 
expectations regarding the Family Protection Action Plan, which was introduced in 
July. Accordingly, brokerage partners played an important role in the sale of 
consumer mortgages, along with significantly expanded family support products. In 
particular, Babaváró loans were popular, giving new impetus to market loans, 
thereby increasing disbursements. Throughout the year, the intermediary channel 
had a 38.5% share of retail mortgages. 
 
The portfolio of retail assets managed by the Bank at the end of the year exceeds 
HUF 700 billion. The structure of savings changed slightly: the proportion of 
government securities considerably increased (10%+ increase due to the introduction 
of MÁP+ government securities in June) compared to a decrease of 18% deposits and 
an average of 5% in investment funds. 

                                                 
2 Source: NBH, KAVOSZ, Eximbank, MFB, MKB’s own calculation 
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In 2019, we were able to further increase the number of satisfied customers with our 
onboarding and next best offer programs, thanks to a more conscious retail 
campaign management activity. We also achieved outstanding results in the growth 
of the premium segment's customer base and managed assets. Thanks to targeted 
customer inquiries and a premium value-added advisory system, the premium 
customer base increased by nearly 46% and assets under management by 38% over 
the past year. Because of the investment portfolio-based investment advisory, MKB-
Pannónia Fund's open-ended investment funds increased by 22.45%. 
 
Particular emphasis was placed on the training and education of sales staff, thereby 
reinforcing advisory within the branch network. Together, these enhancements 
guarantee a higher customer experience in both branch and digital banking. 
 
The development and implementation of a small business customer management 
model has made the customer service process within the account more efficient and 
simpler, and has strengthened the customer value based acquisition strategy. As a 
result of the review of small business sales channels, profitability factors related to 
the business line improved. By focusing on the focus of the sales management 
concept, there is progress in demand-based customer service practices and the 
strengthening of the Bank Group approach. 
 
The Bank's branch network development strategy is based on the continuous 
improvement of customer service, in which the most efficient and convenient 
customer service plays an important role. In line with the market conditions, the 
Bank continued to modernize and renovate customer space in settlements and 
localities with significant customer / corporate potential customer base in 2019, and 
decided to completely redevelop the Hercegprímás Street Premium and Digital 
Customer Center in 2020. 
 
In addition to our current and extensive online administration, the Bank currently 
provides personal customer service in 51 branches across the country. 
 
The Bank had taken into account the expected performance of the intermediary 
channel already at the planning stage. The expansion of the partnerships was a result 
of ongoing acquisition work during the year and several operational or process 
improvements aimed at enhancing the satisfaction of the partners, and indirectly the 
clients. Opened in December 2018, the Partner Center in Budapest fulfilled its 
expectations as it reached the planned disbursement volume and, according to the 
feedback received, improved the partner experience. Based on the positive 
experiences, the Bank will also explore the possibility of developing the Partner 
Center. 
 
Based on a strategic agreement between the Bank and CIG Pannónia Life Insurance 
Plc., the branch network of the Bank sells CIG Pannónia's pension and life insurance 
products. 2019 was the most successful year of cooperation with the Insurer. 
Compared to 2018, sales of regular premium life insurance increased by 28%. 
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Together with the Insurer, we organized Open Days for our clients in several of our 
branches in Budapest and in the countryside, which have been outstandingly 
successful. Our clients have been informed about available retirement, investment, 
risk and health insurance and, with the help of our colleagues and CIG 
representatives, have been able to diversify their investment portfolio. 
 
In the case of mortgage-backed credit insurance, we introduced a new package that 
includes a broader range of risk events, and the pricing of previous packages has 
been streamlined. 
 
Digital products and channels 
 
Building on the successful roll-out of the 2018 core system, where MKB laid the 
foundation for tomorrow's digital architecture, MKB continued to develop its digital 
services in 2019, further enhancing customer experience and satisfaction. 
 
It added new services to the mobile app with more than 40,000 active users, 
introducing Alfred, the smart assistant module. Alfred has a real-time decision engine 
that allows customers to receive relevant information and offers in real time. By 
analyzing users' banking habits and geolocation information, the app is able to 
provide customers with the most relevant offer for their situation, thereby 
contributing to the success of campaigns and customer satisfaction. 
 
Retail and SME customers also have the option of FX conversion at a specific rate. We 
have developed an online share subscription feature for our investment clients, 
making listing transactions even easier to access. 
 
Digitization is, therefore, a long-term investment, based on careful planning, 
including the launch of preparations for our services to be launched in 2020, 
including projects to renew online lending and account opening, and mobile 
application and mobile payment. 
 
In 2019, statutory projects (PSD2, Customer Identification, AFR) generated a number 
of digital channel tasks that our bank, as a supporter of open banking, successfully 
solved in partnership with fintech companies, and we continue to trust that new 
services experience and satisfaction. 
 
MKB SZÉP Card 
 
As of January 2, 2019, the Bank has taken over the issuance and registration services 
of MKB SZÉP Card and concluded an account agreement with more than 218 
thousand customers by the end of the year. MKB Pension Fund and Healthcare Fund 
Servicing Ltd., which previously issued the MKB SZÉP Card, will terminate its SZÉP 
Card activity by 31 May 2020. 
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As of 2019, only the SZÉP Card remained a favorable tax-paying fringe benefit, and 
this change in tax legislation significantly contributed to the outstanding 
performance of the MKB SZÉP Card in 2019. 
 
The employer's contribution of HUF 26.8 billion referred to MKB SZÉP Card holders in 
2019 increased by 72% compared to the previous year. With six million transactions 
in 2019, SZÉP Card Spending increased by 44% to nearly HUF 21.5 billion. 
 
The assets on MKB SZÉP Prepaid Accounts exceeded HUF 10 billion on an annual 
average. 
MKB SZÉP Card holders can use their cards for payment at 24,000 contracted service 
providers. 
 
Corporate and institutional customers 
 
MKB’s permanent strategic objective is to maintain a strong corporate business line, 
based on our traditional strengths. The corporate business line is focused on local 
knowledge, professional service provision, advice-based sales and the provision of 
innovative solutions. 
 
What MKB sells to its customers is not simply a variety of products but complex 
business solutions and advice, setting up complex credit facilities and satisfying 
special banking needs when necessary. MKB can provide effective and efficient 
solutions to all participants of the corporate segment, regardless of customer size. 
 
To continue the development of the customer life-cycle based approach the Bank 
devoted major resources in 2019 to further optimising the product development 
processes and models, as well as to developing digitised solutions. 
 
Despite major limitations and restrictions entailed by the EU commitments, 
maintaining portfolios continue to be crucial for the Bank in the large corporate 
business line, thereby keeping up the strong market positions and the diversified loan 
portfolios and avoiding the build-up of material risk, industry or customer 
concentrations. 
 
Small and medium-sized (SME) customers continued to be a key segment for the 
Bank in 2019. Meeting the new additional requirements of the guarantee institutions 
was paramount: the Bank is continuously fine tuning its SME financing possibilities to 
make sure that the options enabled by the programmes are available primarily for 
those SMEs that are most in need of them. 
 
In the framework of the Széchenyi Programme the Bank is a mayor player with a 
lending portfolio of HUF 36.6 billion, with which it maintained its significant – 15.4% – 
market share. As one of the elements of opening towards the agricultural sector – by 
continuously optimising and enhancing the available options – MKB participated in 
the financing of the Agricultural Rural Development Programme. The Bank has also 
introduced a new product for SMEs specifically for the purchase of agricultural land, 
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and it provides agricultural land development loans in line with programs supported 
by the European Union and the Ministry of Agriculture. 
 
We have been traditionally closely cooperating with Eximbank to maximise the 
number of customers provided with funding. 
 
MKB has been supporting businesses in their efforts at improving their 
competitiveness and the effective utilisation of funds by providing useful information 
and face-to-face advice through the network of MFB Points which have been in 
operation since July 2017. 
 
Investment services 
 
The Group provides a wide range of investment banking type services, including 
Treasury services (trading on commission, custody services and sales), fund 
management, capital market and transaction consultancy, Private Banking, tender 
drafting and project management consultancy as well as venture capital fund 
management. 
 
In 2019, the Bank continued to expand the range of investment funds in order to 
better serve its customer needs. In addition to MKB-Pannónia Fund Manager (which 
continues to be a strategic partner) the products of four foreign and six domestic 
partners were available for various customer segments by the end of 2019. 
 
When selecting newly launched investment funds, it was a priority to meet customer 
needs focused on sectors such as Artificial Intelligence, Biotechnology or Sustainable 
Development (ESG Funds). In addition to investment fund sales, the sales of 
certificates increased dynamically last year. 
 
The Bank is a primary and contracted dealer of institutional and retail government 
securities. Sales of retail government securities, both in volume and in number of 
transactions, increased significantly compared to 2018, mainly due to the newly 
introduced retail government securities (MÁP +) of the Government Debt 
Management Agency. In 2019, the Bank further increased its number of Distributors. 
 
MKB's Capital Markets and Transaction Advisory Directorate has played a significant 
role in listing the Bank, continuing its Nominated Advisor (NOMAD) function on the 
BSE's Xtend market, and has been one of the market's leading investment service 
providers in the NBH Bond Funding For Growth Scheme (BGS): contributed to three 
successful bond issues totalling HUF 78.6 billion. 
 
MKB Private Banking continued to grow its managed assets by a significant 20% in 
2019, making it one of the market leaders in its segment. The division is managing 
assets worth a total of HUF 700 billion. At the same time, the average volume of the 
portfolios managed by the division is also outstanding, over HUF 300 million, the 
highest average per-customer amount of assets managed by service providers 
associated with banks. 
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First in Hungary, Private Banking has launched its market-leading MasterCard World 
Elite card for its customers and expanded its offering with new investment funds to 
further enhance customer satisfaction, ensuring modern investment strategies are 
achieved. Close co-operation with MKB-Pannónia Fund Manager in the field of 
investment fund sales and personalized asset management continued. 
 
The Premium investment service involves the provision of personalised investment 
advice based on sample portfolios, together with a broad product range and 
individual products, as well as consultancy with our highly trained professionals. The 
success of the Premium investment service launched in 2016 is unbroken among 
clients, which is well illustrated by the fact that the number of clients using the 
service increased by nearly 50% compared to 2018. The increase in customer 
numbers is also reflected in the increase in assets under management: it has 
increased to HUF 141 billion in 2019 compared to HUF 107 billion in 2018. There was 
no change in the volume of average customer assets, which is still HUF 30 million. 
MKB aims to continue to improve the quality of the priority service – based on 
customers’ needs surveyed –, and to launch a vigorous acquisition campaign. To this 
end, the Bank is reconsidering the value proposition, the service level and the service 
provision model for the segment. 
 
Service quality and customer satisfaction 
 
The Bank focuses its operations on enhancing customer experience as one of its key 
strategic objectives. The Bank maintains continuous dialogue with its customers, 
monitoring their satisfaction. It was to this end that the Bank set up at the end of 
2017 the on-line panel called MKB Dialog, in order to ensure that customer’s 
opinions are integrated in the Bank’s day-to-day operations, whether regarding the 
introduction of new products or even new on-line solutions. In 2019 MKB Dialog has 
been extended to the SME segment and the Bank conducted a customer satisfaction 
survey across all segments. 
 

 
SUBSIDIARIES / STRATEGIC ARRANGEMENTS AND PARTNERS 
 
The range of MKB’s own banking products and services is supplemented by those 
provided by its subsidiaries and partners. The key objectives include maintaining or 
enhancing the market positions of the subsidiaries engaged in business activities, 
increasing cooperation among the members of the Group and strengthening the 
auxiliary financial services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Documentation of the Annual General Meeting of MKB Bank Plc. to be held on 17 April 2020 

 

 
14 

 

SUBSIDIARIES3 
 
MKB Euroleasing Group 
 
MKB Euroleasing Group, as one of the leading domestic leasing companies, continues 
to be highly active and dominant as in previous years, mainly due to its strong market 
share in car financing and financing agricultural machines. In addition to these 
segments, MKB-Euroleasing Group provides its clients with a full range of services in 
financing commercial vehicles and general purpose machines. 
 
The goal of the MKB Euroleasing Group (considering the segments and the portfolio 
within the segments) is to build a risk and business diversified portfolio that ensures 
the long-term operation of a profitable business model. taking into account both the 
financing segments and the portfolio of contracts within the segments. 
 
In 2019, the Group dynamically increased its new financing volume. Managed 
portfolio also rose, which contributes significantly to further improving operational 
efficiency. In the car financing and the agricultural machine financing segments MKB 
Euroleasing is one of the three largest market participants. 
 
MKB Euroleasing’s strategic goal is to retain the already secured market share and 
status as a leading domestic leasing company, provide for a stable market presence 
primarily by strengthening vendor, supplier and importer relationships and 
developing new ones. In addition, the Group is at the forefront of developing and 
deploying innovative digital solutions to serve the needs of its customers and 
partners. 
 
MKB Consulting 
 
In 2019, MKB Consulting provided a complex consulting portfolio to its corporate, 
government and higher education clients. Advice for business innovation and R&D 
grants resulted in development nearly HUF 6 billion nationwide. Counselling for 
county-level cities, the Budapest Stock Exchange and various venture capital fund 
managers has led to the launch of programs that generate significant improvements 
in certain rural regions and sectors. 
 
MKB Consulting is not only consulting on innovation, but is also constantly improving 
its service activities. With this in mind, in 2019, MKB Consulting launched a new 
business line, based on the process optimization software CELONIS. The viability of 
the service is demonstrated both by the pilot project launched and completed jointly 
with the Bank and the strong interest in medium and large companies for this 
consulting. 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
3 Source: Hungarian Leasing Association, BAMOSZ 
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Danube Capital R&A Zrt. 
 
In 2019, within the Group, dedicated expertise in macroeconomic analysis, corporate 
valuation, sector analysis and market research was established through the 
establishment of Danube Capital R&A Zrt. Danube Capital published 125 professional 
blog posts in 2019, which reached more than 22,000 visitors in the second half of 
2019. Danube Capital's professional team has been supporting the clients of Group 
with complex corporate valuation, industry analysis and macroeconomic analysis and 
consulting. 
 
MKB Inkubátor Kft. - MKB Fintechlab 
 
Launched in 2016, MKB Fintechlab celebrated its third anniversary in November. 
MKB Fintechlab acts as an innovation laboratory and international startup incubator 
for the MKB and helps the organization's innovation work with knowledge, 
relationships and development. Besides this, MKB Fintechlab's priority is to support 
the Group in the digital transformation and strengthen the design mindset within the 
organization. 
 
MKB Fintechlab focused on building digital competencies in 2019, continued the 
strategic expansion launched at the end of 2018. MKB Fintechlab has created a 
unique design competence centre to take digital design expertise to the strategic 
level within the Group. MKB Fintechlab’s design competence centre has conducted 
extensive research and developed digital product concepts with the Bank's 
counterparts to achieve the highest customer experience possible. 
 
MKB Fintechlab’s startup program was also a success, with 110 startups in 15 
countries applying in 2019. The best ideas were presented at Demo Day event as a 
solemn end to the three-month incubation program. 
 
The Fintechlab Design Summit, held in November 2019, which focused on customer-
centricity and customer experience design, also marks MKB Fintechlab’s international 
relationships and the success and recognition of its work. At the full house event, the 
most successful international fintech companies and digital banks also presented 
their experiences. 
 
MKB Fintechlab is expected to further strengthen and support the organisation's 
innovation and digital strategy in 2020 and to build further partnerships by its startup 
program. 
 
Solus Capital Venture Capital Fund Manager 
 
In August 2019 Solus Capital Venture Capital Fund Manager established Solus II. 
Venture Capital Fund, thus, the Company now manages two venture capital funds 
(together with Solus I Venture Capital Fund) with nearly HUF 21.4 billion in registered 
capital. 
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Solus I Venture Capital Fund seeks to contribute to regional development and the 
technological modernization of the SME sector under the S3 Venture Capital 
Program. The Capital Fund invests in small and medium-sized enterprises that are 
capable of rapid growth through innovation in the field of smart technology. Solus I 
Venture Capital Fund currently has a portfolio of 14 companies. The Fund has already 
invested nearly HUF 2.5 billion in various manufacturing and service industries. 
 
Solus II. Venture Capital Fund launched active capital investment activities at the end 
of 2019, aims to support the strategic goals of the Digital Success Program (DJP): to 
assist the development of digital infrastructure, competencies and the digital 
economy through venture capital investments. Solus II. Venture Capital Fund invests 
in micro, small and medium-sized companies whose development goals are related 
to the strategic goals of DJP, such as education (EdTech), government services 
(GovTech), health and welfare services (MedTech, SportsTech), various sectors of the 
digital economy (AgTech, E-commerce, Sharing Economy), information security 
(Cybersecurity) and the latest innovations (5G developments and related 
innovations). 
 
STRATEGIC COOPERATION ARRANGEMENTS AND PARTNERS4 
 
MKB Pension Fund 
 
MKB Pension Fund is one of the leading domestic funds: its favourable conditions, 
robust technical/professional track record, stable and prudent operation and skilled 
asset manager team, as well as its long term investment results guarantee for the 
savings of its members. The Voluntary segment of MKB Pension Fund, with a history 
of 25 years, had nearly 80,000 members and managed more than HUF 138 billion 
worth of assets (an increase of approximately 5% compared to the previous year) at 
the end of 2019. With a stable market share, it also completed its plans under more 
difficult market conditions, closing the year positively. Its Private segment had a total 
of 3,693 members and managed HUF 20.3 billion in assets at the end of 2019. The 
ratio of members paying contributions was well above the minimum requirement of 
70%. 
 
By choosing the fund facility customers access significant benefits. Enabled by low 
costs, tax-free yields and tax benefits provided by the state they can accumulate 
substantial amounts even without any financial expertise to supplement their 
pensions, contributing to the maintenance of the standards of living they secured 
themselves during their economically active years. 
 
The Fund lays particular attention to maximising the satisfaction of customer 
requirements, therefore it is constantly seeking for and applying new and innovative 
solutions. The features of Personal storage space and Electronic business enable 
users to simply and quickly view the data stored in the system, monitor the increase 
of their savings, the annual account history and the current portfolios. 
 

                                                 
4 Source: Association of Mutual Funds 
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Following the improvements of previous years, the Fund has completed several 
successful projects last year with the expansion of new digital services: launched the 
online credit card payment and expanded the Members' Portal, among the first in the 
market. The Employer portal offers efficient administrative solutions by enabling 
electronic administrative procedures. The Fund continues to focus on maximizing 
customer service needs, and is constantly seeking and applying new, innovative 
solutions. 
 
MKB-Pannónia Health and Mutual Fund 
 
MKB-Pannónia Health and Mutual Fund has been one of the largest, best-performing 
funds for 22 years. On July 1, 2019, Kardirex Health Fund have been acquired by the 
Fund, signalling the company's strong market position. In 2019, despite regulatory 
changes affecting the sector, the Fund's assets amounted to HUF 14.8 billion. Based 
on its market share, MKB-Pannónia Health and Mutual Fund remains the first in the 
ranking of health funds. The Fund’s membership exceeded a total of 207,300 by the 
end of the year. In line with the decision of the Board of Directors, the Fund has 
developed a comprehensive strategy to preserve its ability of value creating and be 
able to adapt to the changed market environment while transforming itself into a 
competitive, modern Fund in the coming years. The Fund has a total of 15,700 
contracted partners across Hungary, of which nearly 9,000 also accept payment with 
MKB Health Fund cards. 
 
The Fund continues to aim at providing a social service package with a healthcare 
element to ensure the widest possible use of health-related and potential disease-
related services. 
 
Personal storage space provides quick and easy access to current portfolios, annual 
account history and certain types of cases can be managed electronically. 
 
The Fund renewed its entire IT infrastructure and launched online credit card 
payment as a new digital service in 2019. In addition to the introduction of other 
convenience services, the Fund plans to completely transform and modernize its 
online presence in 2020. 
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Agenda item No. 1.2 
 

 
 
 
 

THE PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE 2019 SEPARATE 
(UNCONSOLIDATED) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER IFRS  
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MKB Bank Plc. 
Statement of individual (non-consolidated) financial position for the year ended on 31 
December 2019 

 
Data in HUF million 

 

 
 
 
 
  

Note 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 55 388 19 240

Loans and advances to banks 8 62 392 63 610

Derivative financial assets 9 18 193 17 914

Securities 10 600 894 773 029

Loans and advances to customers 11 923 938 893 144

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 39 4 075 4 238

Other assets 12 14 256 16 518

Current income tax assets 455 -                              

Deferred tax assets 24 7 718 5 771

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates 13 46 708 42 972

Intangibles, property and equipment 14 38 439 22 193

Total assets 1 772 456 1 858 629

Liabilities

Amounts due to other banks 15 195 683 214 153

Deposits and current accounts 16 1 237 260 1 380 838

Derivate financial liabilities 17 44 263 31 608

Other liabilities and provisions 19 60 983 38 708

Issued debt securities 20 1 331 5 696

Subordinated debt 21 39 381 28 002

Total liabilities 1 578 901 1 699 005

Equity

Share capital 22 100 000 100 000

Reserves 23 93 555 59 624

Total equity 193 555 159 624

Total liabilities and equity 1 772 456 1 858 629
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MKB Bank Plc. 
Statement of separate (non-consolidated) income for the year ended on 31 December 
2019       

 
Data in HUF million 

 

 
 

 

  

Note 2019 2018

Statement of profit or loss

Interest and similar to interest income 25 56 927 52 858

Interest expense 26 19 008 16 578

Net interest income 37 919                 36 280                 

Net income from commissions and fees 27 27 371 25 830

Other operating income / (expense), net 28 11 612 5 395

Impairment / (Reversal) and provision for losses 29 (4 027)                   (1 506)                   

Operating expense 30 39 590 44 294

Profit before taxation 41 339                 24 717                 

Income tax (income) / expense 31 (673)                     (557)                     

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 42 012                 25 274                 

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Revaluation on financial assets measured at FVTOCI 10 (3 281)                   (13 255)                 

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax (3 281)                  (13 255)                

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 38 731                 12 019                 

Profit / (Loss) attributable to:

Shareholders of the bank 42 012                 25 274                 

Non-controlling interests -                           -                           

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Shareholders of the bank 38 731                 12 019                 

Non-controlling interests -                           -                           

Net income available to ordinary shareholders 42 012                  25 274                  

Average number of ordinary shares outstanding (thousands) 100 000                100 000                

Earnings per Ordinary Share (in HUF) 33

Basic 420 253

Diluted 420 253
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MKB Bank Plc. 
Separate (non-consolidated) statement of changes in equity for the period ended on 31 
December 2019 

 
Data in HUF million 

  

 
 

  

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Retained 

earnings

Revaluation 

on financial 

assets 

measured at 

FVTOCI

Total

equity

At 1 January 2018        100 000          21 729          16 087              9 789          147 605 

Profit for the year -                  -                  25 274         -                     25 274           

Other comprehensive income for the year -                  -                  -                  (13 255)           (13 255)          

At 31 December 2018        100 000          21 729          41 361             (3 466)          159 624 

Dividend -                  -                  (4 800)          -                     (4 800)            

Profit for the year -                  -                  42 012         -                     42 012           

Other comprehensive income for the year -                  -                  -                  (3 281)             (3 281)            

At 31 December 2019        100 000          21 729          78 573             (6 747)          193 555 
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MKB Bank Plc. 
Separate equity reconciliation for the period ending on 31 December 2019 
 

 
Data in HUF million 

 

 
 
 

Data in HUF million 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

Share capital Retained earnings Revaluation reserve Total

Balance at 1 January 2018 100 000            21 729              16 087                  9 789                       147 605 

Profit before tax -                        -                        25 274                   -                               25 274    

Accumulated other comprehensive income -                        -                        -                            (13 255)                     (13 255)   

Balance at 31 December 2018 100 000            21 729              41 361                  (3 466)                      159 624 

Dividend -                        -                        (4 800)                    -                               (4 800)     

Profit before tax -                        -                        42 012                   -                               42 012    

Accumulated other comprehensive income -                        -                        -                            (3 281)                       (3 281)     

Balance at 31 December 2019 100 000            21 729              78 573                  (6 747)                      193 555 

Capital reserve

Reconciliation of share capital registered at registy 

court and share capital under IFRS adopted by the EU
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Share capital registered at the registry court 100 000 100 000                     

Instruments recognised as liabilities -                                 -                                 

Share capital under IFRS adopted by the EU 100 000 100 000

Schedule of the profit reserves available for dividend 

(million HUF)
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Retained earnings 78 573 41 361

Statutory other reserve/equity 10 825 6 624

Profit reserve available for dividend 67 748 34 737
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MKB Bank Plc. 
Statement of separate (non-consolidated) cash flows for the year ended on 31 December 
2019 

 
Data in HUF million 

 
 

Note 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation 41 339                 24 717                 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 14 4 109                    4 622                    

Impairment on other assets 12 1 181                    274                      

Reversal of provisions 19, 34 (511)                     (1 436)                  

Reversal of impairment loss on loans and advances 8, 11 (23 652)                 (8 849)                  

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) on securities 10 19                        (118)                     

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment on subsidiaries and associates 13 (1 627)                  3 150                    

Change in deferred tax 31 (1 947)                  (2 486)                  

Net interest income 25, 26 (37 634)                 (44 365)                 

Dividends on securities (167)                     (152)                     

Revaluation of issued securities 20 (430)                     714                      

Revaluation and other result on securities measured at FVTOCI Change in equity (3 281)                  (5 820)                  

Foreign exchange movement on cash and cash equivalents 122                      89                        

Cash flows from operating activities (22 479)                 (29 660)                 

Change in loans and advances to banks 8 1 213                    14 388                  

Change in loans and advances to customers 11, 35, 36, 38, 39 (7 137)                  (26 398)                 

Change in non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 39 163                      17 410                  

Change in derivative assets 9 (279)                     1 843                    

Change in other assets 12 1 081                    166                      

Change in amounts due to banks (short term) 15 (32 017)                 24 451                  

Change in current and deposit accounts 16 (143 578)               (171 657)               

Change in other liabilities 19 22 786                  (3 437)                  

Change in derivative liabilities 17 12 655                  (11 758)                 

Interest received 25 58 207                  49 250                  

Interest paid 26 (20 573)                 (4 885)                  

Income tax 31 218                      159                      

(107 261)               (110 468)               

Net cash used in operating activities (129 740)             (140 128)             

Cash flow from investing activities

(Disposal) / investment in Group companies 13 (2 109)                  3 776                    

Purchase of PPEs and intangible assets 14 (20 355)                 (10 512)                 

Change in securities 10 172 283                182 215                

Net cash generated by investing activities 149 819               175 479               

Cash flow from financing activities

Change in issued securities 20 (3 935)                  (6 137)                  

Change in subordinated liabilities 21 11 379                  5 695                    

Change in amounts due to banks (Borrowings) 15 13 547                  (47 179)                 

Dividends paid Change in equity (4 800)                  -                          

Net cash generated / (used in) by financing activites 16 191                 (47 621)               

Net increase / (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents                  36 270                 (12 270)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 19 240                 31 599                 

Foreign exchange movement on cash and cash equivalents (122)                     (89)                       

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 55 388                 19 240                 
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Agenda item No. 1.3 

 
 
 
 

THE PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE 2019 CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER IFRS 
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MKB Group 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for the year ended on 31 December 2019 

 
Data in HUF million 

 

 
 
 

  

Note 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 55 388 19 240

Loans and advances to banks 8 62 392 63 610

Derivative financial assets 9 18 193 17 914

Securities 10 600 894 773 029

Loans and advances to customers 11 930 313 895 203

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 39 4 075 4 238

Other assets 12 15 176 21 699

Current income tax assets 539 2

Deferred tax assets 24 8 008 5 814

Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates 13 5 911 4 687

Intangibles, property and equipment 14 58 907 52 143

Total assets 1 759 796 1 857 579

Liabilities

Amounts due to other banks 15 195 810 214 340

Deposits and current accounts 16 1 226 529 1 372 046

Derivate financial liabilities 17 44 263 31 608

Other liabilities and provisions 19 55 222 48 425

Current income tax liabilities 3 16

Deferred tax liabilities 24 126 2

Issued debt securities 20 -                                  4 974

Subordinated debt 21 39 381 28 002

Total liabilities 1 561 334 1 699 413

Equity

Share capital 22 100 000 100 000

Treasury shares (35)                              (1 987)                          

Reserves 23 98 462 58 166

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank 198 427 156 179

Non-controlling interests 23 35 1 987

Total equity 198 462 158 166

Total liabilities and equity 1 759 796 1 857 579
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MKB Group 
Consolidated Income Statement for the period ended on December 31, 2019 

 
Data in HUF million 

 

 
 

 
  

Note 2019 2018

Statement of profit or loss

Interest and similar income 25 59 217 57 806    

Interest expense 26 18 420 16 486    

Net interest income 40 797 41 320  

Net income from commissions and fees 27 27 316 25 908    

Other operating income / (expense), net 28 10 108 7 222     

Impairment / (Reversal) and provision for losses 29 (5 350)   (800)       

Operating expense 30 43 240 52 864    

Share of jointly controlled and associated companies' profit 3 037 2 311     

Profit before taxation 43 368 24 697  

Income tax (income) / expense 31 (780)      (435)       

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 44 148 25 132  

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Revaluation on financial assets measured at FVTOCI
10 (3 281)   (13 255)  

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax (3 281)  (13 255) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 40 867 11 877  

Profit / (Loss) attributable to:

Shareholders of the bank 44 148 25 132  

Non-controlling interests -           -            

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Shareholders of the bank 40 867 11 877  

Non-controlling interests -           -            

Net income available to ordinary shareholders 44 148  25 132    

Average number of ordinary shares outstanding (thousands) 99 906 94 621    

Earnings per Ordinary Share (in HUF) 33

Basic 442       266        

Diluted 442       258        
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MKB Group 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity as at 31 December 2019 

 
Data in HUF million 

 
 

 
 
 

  

Share 

capital

Treasury 

shares

Share 

premium

Share-based 

payments

Retained 

earnings

Revaluation on 

financial assets 

measured at 

FVTOCI

Non-

controlling 

interests

Total

equity

At 1 January 2018  100 000    (5 550)        21 729                   54     15 135                   9 789         5 549   146 706 

Profit for the year -            -            -                -                    25 132     -                         -               25 132    

Other comprehensive income for the year -            -            -                -                    -             (13 255)               -               (13 255)   

First / (final) consolidation of subsidiaries -            -            -                -                    (558)        -                         -               (558)        

Change in non-controlling interests -            -            -                -                    -             -                         1               1             

Equity settled share-based payments -            -            -                140                -             -                         -               140         

Disposal of treasury shares -            3 563     -                -                    -             -                         (3 563)       -              

At 31 December 2018  100 000    (1 987)        21 729                 194     39 709                 (3 466)         1 987   158 166 

Dividend -            -            -                -                    (4 665)     -                         -               (4 665)     

Profit for the year -            -            -                -                    44 148     -                         -               44 148    

Other comprehensive income for the year -            -            -                -                    -             (3 281)                 -               (3 281)     

Equity settled share-based payments -            -            -                (194)               194         -                         -               -              

Disposal of treasury shares -            1 952     -                -                    4 094      -                         (1 952)       4 094      

At 31 December 2019  100 000         (35)        21 729                     -     83 480                 (6 747)              35   198 462 
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MKB Group 
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on 31 December 2019 

 
Data in HUF million 

 

Note 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation 43 368    24 697    

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 14 4 075       8 368       

Impairment on other assets 12 1 180       230          

Reversal of provisions 19, 34 (2 509)      (1 087)      

Reversal of impairment loss on loans and advances 11 (23 739)    (9 640)      

Impairment / (reversal of impairment) on securities 10 19            (118)         

Impairment / (reversal of impairment) on associates 13 330          (2 044)      

Change in deferred tax 31 (2 070)      (2 505)      

Net interest income 25, 26 (40 512)    (44 365)    

Dividends on securities (167)         (708)         

Revaluation of issued securities 20 (447)         716          

Revaluation and other result on securities measured at FVTOCI Change in Equity (3 281)      (5 820)      

Foreign Exchange movement on cash and cash equivalents 122          89            

Cash flows from operating activities (23 631)    (32 187)    

Change in loans and advances to banks 8 1 213       14 400      

Change in loans and advances to customers 11, 35, 36, 38, 39 (11 366)    (27 199)    

Change in non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 39 163          17 410      

Change in derivative assets 9 (279)         1 843       

Change in other assets 12 5 343       5 379       

Change in amounts due to banks (short term) 15 (32 017)    24 458      

Change in current and deposit accounts 16 (145 517)   (167 094)   

Change in other liabilities 19 9 306       (324)         

Change in derivative liabilities 17 12 655      (11 758)    

Interest received 25 60 497      49 250      

Interest paid 26 (19 985)    (4 885)      

Income tax 31 230          158          

(119 757)   (98 362)    

Net cash used in operating activities (143 388) (130 549) 

Cash flow from investing activities

(Disposal of) / investment in Group companies 13 (1 554)      -              

Purchase of PPEs and intangible assets 14 (10 839)    (13 835)    

Change in securities 10 172 283    182 215    

Net cash generated by investing activities 159 890  168 380  

Cash flow from financing activities

Change in issued securities 20 (433)         (6 365)      

Change in subordinated liabilities 21 11 379      5 695       

Change in amounts due to banks (Borrowings) 15 13 487      (49 430)    

Dividends paid Change in Equity (4 665)      -              

Net cash generated / (used in) by financing activites 19 768    (50 100)   

Net increase / (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents      36 270    (12 270)

Cash reserves at 1 January 19 240    31 599    

Foreign Exchange movement on cash and cash equivalents (122)         (89)           

Cash reserves at the end of period 55 388    19 240    
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Agenda item No. 1.4 
 
 
 
 
 

THE PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE APPROPRIATION OF 
PROFIT AND THE PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND FOR THE YEAR 2019 
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Board of Directors' Profit Allocation Proposal for 2019: 
 

Data in HUF million 
 

 
 
 
Dividend payment: 
 
Disposable retained earnings available for dividend payment: 
 

Data in HUF million 

 
 
Taking into account the supervisory regulatory capital requirements of 2020, as well as the 
effects significantly affecting the level of the regulatory capital in 2020, the uncertainties 
such as impact of government securities revaluation, credit institutions' special tax, 
minimum credit risk reserve, approximately HUF 21,000 – 22,000 mln may be paid out as 
dividend. 
 
Pursuant to the relevant provisions of Act V of 2013 (Civil Code) and in accordance with the 
Articles of Association of MKB Bank Plc. (Company) the General Meeting of the Company has 
the sole right to decide on the time and manner of dividend payment. The General Meeting 
may decide on the payment of dividends if the conditions for such payment are met. The 
Company shall pay the dividend to the Shareholders by transfer from the date determined 
by the relevant General Meeting resolution. Shareholders shall be entitled to dividend if 
based on the verification of owners requested for the Dividend Date the shareholder is 
registered in the Register of Shares and their share property does not violate the provisions 
of the relevant law. The shareholder shall be entitled to dividend in the percentage of its 
already performed cash contribution. The basis of the payment of dividend is the face value 
of the share. 

1.        Profit before taxation 41 339

2.        Income tax (income) / expense -673

3.        Profit for the year (1.-2.) 42 012

Increase in Retained earnings 42 012

Schedule of the profit reserves available for dividend 31.12.2019.

1.        Retained 
earnings as of 1 January 2019 41 361

2.        Dividend payment for 2019 4 800

3.        Profit for the year 42 012

4.        Statutory other reserve/equity 10 825

Profit reserve available for dividend (1.-2.+3.-4.) 67 748
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In a press release issued by the National Bank of Hungary on 19 March 2020 and in a 
management circular of 20 March 2020, credit institutions were urged to defer the approval 
and payment of dividends payable from the profits of 2019 and earlier years until 30 
September 2020 among the measures introduced to mitigate the negative impacts of 
coronavirus on the financial intermediary system. Deferred payment of dividends is justified 
by the need to preserve the stability of institutions' capital and liquidity. In the case of 
institutions that have decided to pay dividends by September 30, 2020, the MNB will 
examine the need to apply measures defined in Section 184(4) of Act CCXXXVII of 2013 on 
Credit Institutions and Financial Enterprises (Hpt.) 
 
Proposal to the General Meeting 
 
In view of the MNB's decision published in relation to the emergency situation resulting 
from the coronavirus epidemic and its effects on the financial intermediary sector, it is 
proposed that the General Meeting retain the distributable profit from the after-tax 
profits. It is also recommended that the General Meeting reserve the right to amend this 
resolution after the 30 September 2020 deadline set out in the decision of the National 
Bank of Hungary. 
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Agenda item No. 1.5 
 
 
 
 
 

THE REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD ON THE 2019 SEPARATE 
(UNCONSOLIDATED) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER IFRS AND 

THE APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT PROPOSAL, AS WELL AS ON THE 2019 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER IFRS 
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Report on the Separate (Non-consolidated) and Consolidated Financial Statements for the 
Financial Year Ended on 31 December 2019 and on the Distribution of After-tax Profit 

 
 
The Supervisory Board discussed at its meeting of 25 March 2020 and proposes to the 
General Meeting for approval the following reports prepared by the Board of Directors on 
the financial year of MKB Bank Plc. ended on 31 December 2019: 
 
– the individual (non-consolidated) annual report5 for the year 2019 prepared in 

accordance with International Accounting Standards, 
 
– the consolidated financial statements for the year 2019 prepared in accordance with the 

International Accounting Standards 
 

– the distribution of after-tax profits for 2019. 
 
  

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of MKB Bank Plc., the Supervisory Board checks the 
annual financial statements of the Company in order to comply with the statutory 
requirements. 
 
In view of the above and based on the preliminary opinion of the Audit Committee, the 
Supervisory Board wishes to emphasize the following: 

In relation to the 2019 Individual and Consolidated Financial Statements, the auditor 
(Deloitte) conducted its annual audit activities on the basis of a detailed schedule from mid-
September 2019 to mid-March 2020.  

For the auditors the purpose of the annual audit activity was to obtain reasonable assurance 
that the annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit 
report containing their opinion. 

After the preparation phase, the annual audit started with process reviews and the review of 
in-process controls. At the end of 2019 and the beginning of 2020, the methodology of 
impairment (individual and group models in corporate and retail segment) and the IT 
systems were examined.  

While assessing the impairment of loans and receivables valued on individual basis, the audit 
procedures included:  

 the review of key internal controls related to loan monitoring and impairment 
measurement and recording,  

 the assessment of the impairment of individual credit transactions on a random basis 
by risk profile, including the review of collateral and its appropriate valuation, and 
estimating the expected cash flows,  

                                                 
5 Inline with Section 9/A(2) of the Accounting Act, the IFRS provisions were applied in all issues regulated under 
IFRS (international accounting standards promulgated in the Official Journal of the European Union by way of 
the procedure provided for in Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 
19 July 2002 on the application of international accounting standards). 
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 the review of events after the reporting date (loan sales), analysis of the impact on 
the current year,  

 the examination of impairment indicators for the non-impaired portfolio. 

After completing the year-end accounting closing, the auditor reviewed and tested the 
analytics, various valuations (e.g., loans, deposits, securities, derivatives), and examined the 
financial statements of the complete unconsolidated and consolidated annual reports, 
including the notes to the financial statements and other notes, and the year-end provisions. 

The main aspects of the review included: 

 Interest and commission income - completeness of commission amortization 

 Manual posting items 

 Identification of related parties and presentation of transactions with them 

 Review of cooperation with internal audit and internal controls 

 Compliance with EU commitments 

Based on the audit work, the auditor has issued an unqualified, clear audit report6 and will 
prepare the Compliance report for the MNB and the Management Letter for MKB 
management. 

 Cooperation with the auditor was coordinated by the Executive Directorate for Operations 
and the Executive Directorate for Internal Audit  

The auditor and representatives of the Bank reconciled the auditor's findings made during 
the annual audit and assisted in the audit process at regular weekly meetings. 
 
In connection with the effectiveness of the risk management system, the Supervisory Board 
identified various measures to improve the risk management system, which include the 
processes, procedures and systems used by the following organizational units: Integrated 
Risk Control, Asset-Liability Control, Central Oprisk Management, Capital Management.  

 

Integrated Risk Control 

 Active support of the Flex POPEYE project 

 Implementation of a sharepoint interface for policy reviewers 

 Review of MKB Group's Risk Strategy 

 Risk cost planning 

 IFRS9 transaction rating system, fine-tuning the process 

 Preparation of risk self-assessment 

 Active support in the specification and testing of the Collateral Recording Robot 

 Adaptation of Banking Level 1, Level 2 regulations to changes in the regulatory 
environment 

 Specification of development needs, active participation in development 

 Elaboration of the NPL Strategy 

 Conducting the implementation plan 

 Preparation of ad-hoc and regular reports, compliance with deadlines for submission 

 Review of KPI Dashboard industry level indicators 

                                                 
6 The issue of the audit report is still in progress. 
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 Review of KPI Dashboard bank-level indicators  

 Provision of trainings (Risk Academy) 

 Active participation in SREP and Complex audit 

 Updating the default module 

 Coordinating role in the preparation of sectoral strategies 

 Expected SLA compliance - operation of a complex lead time backtesting system in 
the MKB Real Estate Database, 

 Annual implementation of statistical re-valuation of residential properties 

 Issuing revaluation assignments for non-residential properties, preparation of re-
evaluations initiated by the network 

 Mortgage Funding Adequacy Ratio (MFAR) support by real estate professionals 

 Continuous certification of the network of experts, termination of contracts where 
appropriate, and examination and recruitment of new experts on an invitation basis 

 Extending SOS processes to external expert networks in relation to non-residential 
properties 

 MKB Real Estate Database - Developing and Sharpening the Mosaic Interface 

 MKB Real Estate Database - External Expert Interface specification, proposal and start 
of development 

 Takarnet - introduction and development of a title deed retrieval robot 

 Introduction of efficiency and data quality improving processes based on the e-
authentic title deed automated reading algorithm 

 Expert data sheet development according to business requirements 

 Adapting specific regulations to changes in the legal environment (MNB 
recommendations, CSOK, etc.) 

 Active participation in mortgage specialist foundation and refresher training 

 estimation of wholasale LGD set with statistical methodology (IRB/IFRS9 and 
performing/non-performing dimensions) 

 wholesale CCF backtesting 

 Wholesale PD estimation for IFRS9 (lifetime calibration, macro model) 

 Validation of banking and Euroleasing retail credit risk models according to the 
annual validation plan or according to the planned introduction 

 Analysis of wholesale PD according to rating philosophy (PiT/TTC) 
 
Asset-Liability Control  

 Active support to compliance with EU commitments, develop and coordinate 
monitoring activities required to comply with balance sheet cap 

 Further automation of area-related changed processes following the replacement of 
the Core System and integration of additional control points 

 Further development of the ALCO support function, weekly monitoring of the main 
factors influencing interest rate risk 

 Improvement of the Banking Book interest rate risk methodology with the potential 
impact of loan prepayments and broken up deposits 

 Group-level harmonization of interest rate risk methodology for relevant group 
members 

 Cost-effective implementation of the new 9R1-9R2 reporting package required by the 
MNB with higher complexity  
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 Previous ILAAP review and amendment of the liquidity risk methodology according to 
the new MNB requirements 

 Effective coordination of the 2019 MNB ILAAP review 

 Renewal of the process and reporting of daily monitoring of liquidity risk exposure 

 Regular annual validation of market and liquidity risks and updating of related 
regulations  

 Further development of trading book market risk calculation under pillar 2, 
harmonization of the calculation methodology according to the new MNB 
expectations 

 Integration of additional automated checkpoints to ensure consistency between 
Treasury front and back office systems 

 Improvement of the Bubor quotation verification methodology 
  

Central Oprisk Management 

The most important regulations have been reviewed, of which the following should be 
emphasized:  

 Modifying the reputation risk policy in the course of which:  
o the definition of the 4-grade qualitative scale used to classify reputational 

risks has been revised and clarified, 
o it was determined that medium and higher reputational risk events should be 

recorded in the oprisk database, 
o it was included in the regulations that high and critical reputational risk 

events should be reported to the Management Committee. 

 Modification of the conduct risk policy, which, in addition to following organizational 
changes (transformation of the Strategic and Innovation Development Committee, 
transformation of the Banking and Cost Control Committee), the mandatory control 
of data protection risks in consumer-related proposals was also introduced as a new 
element.   

 The Reputation Risk Policy has been extended to Group level 
 
Capital Management 

 Continuous monitoring of capital requirements and the capital limit system 

 Continuous monitoring and implementing in the reports of the compliance of capital 
requirement calculation with the CRR 

 Coordinating RWA mitigation actions due to RWA commitment 

 Monthly monitoring, development, annual validation of internal capital requirements 
calculation and coordination of MNB audit (SREP dialogue)  

 Participation in ALCO, MIS reporting, analysis of parts of the risk report related to 
capital adequacy 

 Review and improvement of data quality affecting capital calculation due to the Flex 

 Performing collateral monitoring for the ALCO Capital Management Report 

 Monitoring the key indicators of the recovery plan  

 Developments (concerning capital requirement) related to the SREP dialogue  

 Annual review of the capital plan, fine-tuning of the capital limit system 

 Annual review of the recovery plan  

 Compilation and development of Pillar3 risk report 
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 Preparation of the capital management section of the financial report  

 Participation in the work of the Capital adequacy section of the comprehensive audit 

 Compilation of the MREL Supervisory Report 

 Preparing for changes in Basel IV capital requirements 
 

In line with the practice of previous years, the Bank also made the auditor declare the 
independence of the audit firm and the audit in 2019 too. The auditor stated that, in 
accordance with Hungarian law, there is no conflict of interest with them and that they 
comply with the statutory requirements for independence. 

In addition to the auditing of the annual unconsolidated and consolidated financial 

statements for 2019, the auditor performed the following audits/assignments: 

 Instant Payment System Project (Temporary workforce Related to the bank's instant 

payment system project) 

 Training for MKB-Euroleasing (Competition law and consumer protection training) 

 Modelling support (Modelling support for the update of the Bank's restructuring plan 

presented to the EU earlier according to two scenarios) 

 Related to projects (Technical vendor due diligence assistance) 

The following engagements are still in progress: 

 Non-performing loan project (Non-performing project loan sales support) 

 Nonperforming Mortgage Loans Project (Non-performing mortgage loan sales 

support 

 Tax Advisory Services (ongoing general tax advisory assignment) 

 Problem screening reviews (Problem screening reviews for offering mortgage loans) 

 Cyber Security Assignment (IT Risk Analysis, security review of Mobile applications 

and authentication tokens) 

 CRS and FATCA Implementation Planning (Advisory service for planning and carrying 

out CRS and FATCA implementation) 

Circumstances that compromise auditor independence have not been identified in either 

closed or on-going assignments. The management of the Bank has been informed of all the 

assignments listed. Independence from audit services has been continuously assured  

1. Notes to the individual (not-consolidated) IFRS Financial Statements for 2019  
 
On the basis of written reports received, personal discussions with members of the Board of 
Directors and management, as well as audits performed by the Executive Directorate for 
Internal Audit, the Supervisory Board determined that the 2019 individual (non-
consolidated) financial statements were prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act 
and related legal regulations, where, in accordance with Section 9A (2) of the Accounting 
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Act, the IFRS requirements were applied similarly to the consolidated annual financial 
statements in issues regulated in IFRS (International Accounting Standards (as published in 
the Official Journal of the European Union based on the procedure laid down in the 
European Parliament and Council Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002 on the 
application of international accounting standards). 
 
Presentation of the financial position 

The balance sheet total of MKB Bank decreased to HUF 1,772,456 million by the end of 
2019, which represents a significant decrease - as planned in line with EU commitments - 
compared to HUF 1,858,629 million at the end of the previous year. 
 
The cash and cash equivalents amounted to HUF 55,388 million at the end of 2019, with a 
significant increase of HUF 36,148 million compared to HUF 19,240 million at the end of the 
previous year. Within this growth, the balance on the account with the Central Bank was 
HUF 38,017 million higher and the volume of cash was HUF 1,869 million lower. 
 
The receivables from credit institutions totalled HUF 62,392 million at the end of 2019, a 
decrease of 1.91% or HUF 1,218 million compared to HUF 63,610 million at the end of the 
previous year.  
The HUF 50,361 million money market deposits represent a significant share in receivables 
from credit institutions. 
 
Derivative financial instruments totalled HUF 18,193 million at the end of 2019, an increase 
of 1.56% or HUF 279 million compared to HUF 17,914 million at the end of the previous year. 
 
The Securities at the end of 2019 amounted to HUF 600,894 million, down by 22.27% or HUF 
172,135 million compared to the HUF 773,029 million at the end of the previous year. The 
major part of the decrease, HUF 119,896 million related to the decrease in government 
bonds and HUF 59,187 million is related to the decrease in the treasury bill portfolio.  
Within the securities portfolio, the volume of government bonds worth HUF 535,690 million 
continues to dominate. 
 
At the end of 2019 Receivables from customers amounted to 923,938 HUF million, showing 
an increase of 3.45% or HUF 30,794 million compared to HUF 893,144 million at the end of 
the previous year. The increase is mainly related to the increase in the amount of retail loans 
valued at amortized cost and the decrease in the amount of recognized impairment losses.  
The gross book value of trade receivables was HUF 964,156 million at the end of 2019 and 
HUF 957,020 million at the end of the previous year. The impairment losses recognised on 
trade receivables totalled HUF 40,218 million at the end of 2019 and HUF 63,876 million at 
the end of the previous year.  
  
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations totalled HUF 
4,075 million at the end of 2019, a decrease of 3.85% or HUF 163 million year-on-year. 
 
Other assets amounted to HUF 14,256 million at the end of 2019, down 13.69% or HUF 
2,262 million compared to HUF 16,518 million at the end of the previous year. The decrease 
was mainly due to a decrease in receivables from currency exchange agents.  
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The HUF 13,100 prepayments and other receivables and other receivables represent a 
significant proportion of other assets. 
 
Investments in associates and joint ventures totalled HUF 46,708 million at the end of 2019, 
an increase of 8.69% or HUF 3,736 million compared to HUF 42,972 million at the end of the 
previous year. 
 
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment totalled HUF 38,439 million at the end 
of 2019, an increase of 73.2% or HUF 16,246 million compared to HUF 22,193 at the end of 
the previous year. 
Within intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, the value of intangible assets 
was HUF 21,043 million, the value of owned buildings was HUF 15,861 million and of 
equipment was HUF 1,535 million, respectively. 
 
Liabilities to Credit Institutions at the end of 2019 stood at HUF 195,683 million, down 
8.62% or HUF 18,470 million compared to HUF 214,153 million at the end of the previous 
year. The decrease was due to the HUF 30,509 million drop in money market deposits and 
HUF 1,508 million in current and clearing accounts and the HUF 13,547 million increase in 
borrowings.  
The HUF 191,756 million borrowings represent a significant share of liabilities to credit 
institutions. 
 
The total of current and deposit accounts of customers at the end of 2019 was HUF 
1,237,260 million, showing a decrease of 10.40% or HUF 143,578 million compared to the 
previous year's HUF 1,380,838 million. The decrease is the result of the HUF 157,096 million 
decrease in corporate deposits and the HUF 13,518 million increase in retail deposits.  
The HUF 902,680 million corporate deposits represent a significant proportion of customer-
related current and deposit accounts. 
  
The total of Derivative financial liabilities recorded on the liability side at the end of 2019 
was HUF 44,263 million, an increase of 40.04% or HUF 12,655 million compared to HUF 
31,608 million at the end of the previous year. The increase is mainly due to changes in the 
fair value of derivatives related to interest rate and exchange rate risks. 
 
The other liabilities and provisions amounted to HUF 60,983 at the end of 2019, an increase 
of 57.55% or HUF 22,275 million compared to HUF 38,708 million at the end of the previous 
year. The increase is mainly due to the fact that from 2019 financial lease liabilities are 
included in other liabilities instead of current and deposit accounts. The related increase was 
HUF 21,797 million and the amount of accruals also increased by HUF 1,811 million, but 
there is a decrease of HUF 511 million in provisions for guarantees and contingent liabilities 
and HUF 822 million in other tax liabilities.  
The HUF 35,375 million accruals and other liabilities and HUF 21,797 million other lease 
liabilities represent a significant value in the other liabilities and provisions.  
 
The amount of issued bonds at the end of 2019 was HUF 1,331 million, down 76.63% or HUF 
4,365 million compared to HUF 5,696 million at the end of the previous year. 
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The subordinated debt at the end of 2019 was HUF 39,381 million, up 40.64% or HUF 11,379 
million compared to HUF 28,002 million at the end of the previous year. 
The subordinated debt consists of subordinated debt securities. 
 
MKB Bank's Equity increased to HUF 193,555 million by the end of 2019, a significant 
increase of 21.26% or HUF 33,931 million compared to HUF 159,624 million at the end of the 
previous year. The increase is the overall result of the increasing items of HUF 42,012 million 
and the decreasing items of HUF 8,081 million. The profit after tax for the year 2019 was an 
increasing item of HUF 42,012 million, while the HUF 4,800 million dividends paid in 2019 
and other comprehensive income of HUF 3,281 million were decreasing items. 
 
Statement of income for the period 

MKB Bank achieved a HUF 42,012 million after-tax profit in 2019 which is 66.23%, or HUF 
16,738 million higher than the HUF 25,274 million after-tax profit of the previous year even 
despite the EU commitments that fundamentally affect MKB's operations, and the successful 
completion of key projects and increasing market competition.  
 
The net interest income for 2019 amounted to HUF 37,919 million, an increase of 4.52% or 
HUF 1,639 million compared to HUF 36,280 million of the previous year. The increase in 
interest income is primarily due to an increase in interest income on bonds measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.  
Within the interest income of HUF 56,927 million, interest earned on receivables from 
customers’ accounts represents a significant proportion (HUF 25,456 million), while the HUF 
13,338 million interest expense related to derivative transactions is the dominant item 
among the interest expenses of HUF 19,008 million. 
 
The Net commission and fee income in 2019 amounted to HUF 27,371 million, an increase of 
5.97% or HUF 1,541 million compared to HUF 25,830 million in the previous year. The 
increase in net fee and commission income in 2019 was mainly due to the decrease in the 
expenses related to payment processing and account management services.  
Within the HUF 35,653 million commissions and fees, commission and fee income from 
services related to the execution of payment transactions and account management is the 
biggest item with HUF 20,976 million. Commission and fee expenses totalled HUF 8,282 
million in 2019, compared to HUF 9,348 million in the previous year. 

The Net other operating income for 2019 was HUF 11,612 million, an increase of 115.24% or 
HUF 6,217 million compared to the previous year's HUF 5,395 million. Compared to the 
previous year, the realised gains on trading securities increased from HUF 3,965 million to 
HUF 24,212 million, while profit from securities jumped from HUF 2,095 million loss to HUF 
5,247 million profit. Compared to the previous year, realized gains from derivatives dropped 
from HUF 10,384 million profit to HUF 10,757 million loss and the amount of foreign 
currency gains and losses decreased from HUF 12,330 million to HUF 9,011 million. 

Impairment losses of HUF 5,830 million were reversed and provisions of HUF 1,803 million 
were recognised in 2019 as a result of which a release of HUF 4,027 million occurred in the 
Group under the title of impairment loss and provisioning. The release, the significantly 
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lower provisioning during the current period, resulted from the improving quality of the 
customer loan portfolio as a result of the portfolio separation. 

Banking expenses amounted to HUF 39,590 million in 2019, a decrease of 10.62% or HUF 
4,704 million compared to HUF 44,294 million in the previous year. The decrease is mainly 
due to the reduction of administrative costs and personnel expenses. 
 
 
As of 31 December 2019, including the full year result, MKB Bank's individual capital 
adequacy ratio stood at 25.474%, which is above the 8% statutory minimum. 
 
2. Distribution of profit/loss for 2019  
 
Numerical distribution of profit after taxation: 
 

HUF million 

Profit (loss) before taxation (1) 41,339 

Taxes on income (2) - 673 

Profit/loss after taxation (1-2) 42,012 

Increase in Retained earnings 42,012 

 
 
Disposable retained earnings available for dividend payment: 

HUF million 

Retained earnings (1) 41,361 

Dividends for 2018 (2) 4,800 

Transfer of profit or loss for 2019 to retained earnings (3) 42,012 

Provisions based on legal obligations (4) 10,825 

Disposable retained earnings available for dividend payment (1-2+3-4) 67,748 

 
In view of the MNB's decision published on 19 March and 20 March 2020 in relation to the 
emergency situation resulting from the coronavirus epidemic and its effects on the financial 
intermediary sector, it is proposed that the General Meeting retain the distributable profit 
from the after-tax profits. It is also recommended that the General Meeting reserve the right 
to amend this resolution after the 30 September 2020 deadline set out in the decision of the 
National Bank of Hungary.  
 

3. Notes to the Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements for 2019 
 
Pursuant to Section 10 (2) of the Accounting Act, an entity subject to Section 4 of Regulation 
(EC) No 1606/2002 on the application of international accounting standards shall comply 
with its obligation to draw up consolidated accounts by preparing its consolidated accounts 
in accordance with international accounting standards as published in the Official Journal of 
the European Union in the form of a Regulation. 
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Based on the above-mentioned regulations, MKB Bank Plc. prepares its consolidated 
financial statements only in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS).  

At the end of 2019, the key companies of the MKB Group were: 

 MKB-Euroleasing Group (members: MKB-Euroleasing Autólízing Zrt., Retail Prod 
Zrt.) 

 Restructuring (members: Exter Adósságkezelő Kft., Extercom Kft.) 

 Operation (members: MKB Üzemeltetési Kft., Euro-Immat Üzemeltetési Kft., MKB 
Nyugdíjpénztárt és Egészségpénztárt Kiszolgáló Kft.) 

 Fund Management (member: MKB Pannónia Alapkezelő Zrt.)  

 MKB Digital Zrt. 

 MKB Bank ESOP Organisation 
 
 
Presentation of the financial position 
 
The balance sheet total of MKB Group decreased to HUF 1,759,796 million by the end of 
2019, which represents a significant decrease - as planned in line with EU commitments - 
compared to HUF 1,857,579 million at the end of the previous year. 
 
The cash and cash equivalents amounted to HUF 55,388 million at the end of 2019, with a 
significant increase of HUF 36,148 million compared to HUF 19,240 million at the end of the 
previous year. Within this growth, the balance on the account with the Central Bank was 
HUF 38,017 million higher and the volume of cash was HUF 1,869 million lower. 
 
The receivables from credit institutions totalled HUF 62,392 million at the end of 2019, a 
decrease of 1.91% or HUF 1,218 million compared to HUF 63,610 million at the end of the 
previous year.  
The HUF 50,361 million money market deposits represent a significant share in receivables 
from credit institutions. 
 
Derivative financial instruments totalled HUF 18,193 million at the end of 2019, an increase 
of 1.56% or HUF 279 million compared to HUF 17,914 million at the end of the previous year. 
 
The Securities at the end of 2019 amounted to HUF 600,894 million, down by 22.27% or HUF 
172,135 million compared to the HUF 773,029 million at the end of the previous year. The 
major part of the decrease, HUF 119,896 million related to the decrease in government 
bonds and HUF 59,187 million is related to the decrease in the treasury bill portfolio.  
Within the securities portfolio, the volume of government bonds worth HUF 535,690 million 
continues to dominate. 
 
At the end of 2019 Receivables from customers amounted to 930,313 HUF million, showing 
an increase of 3.92% or HUF 35,110 million compared to HUF 895,203 million at the end of 
the previous year. The increase is mainly related to the increase in the amount of retail loans 
valued at amortized cost and the decrease in the amount of recognized impairment losses.  
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The gross book value of trade receivables was HUF 976,681 million at the end of 2019 and 
HUF 965,315 million at the end of the previous year. The impairment losses recognised on 
trade receivables totalled HUF 46,368 million at the end of 2019 and HUF 70,112 million at 
the end of the previous year.  
  
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations totalled HUF 
4,075 million at the end of 2019, a decrease of 3.85% or HUF 163 million year-on-year. 
 
Other assets amounted to HUF 15,176 million at the end of 2019, down 30.06% or HUF 
6,523 million compared to HUF 21,699 million at the end of the previous year. The decrease 
was mainly due to a decrease in receivables from currency exchange agents.  
The HUF 13,355 prepayments and other receivables and other receivables represent a 
significant proportion of other assets. 
 
Investments in associates and joint ventures totalled HUF 5,911 million at the end of 2019, 
an increase of 26.11% or HUF 1,224 million compared to the figure reported at the end of 
the previous year. 
 
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment totalled HUF 58,907 million at the end 
of 2019, an increase of 12.97% or HUF 6,764 million compared to HUF 52,144 at the end of 
the previous year. 
Within intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, the value of intangible assets 
was HUF 24,466 million, the value of owned buildings was HUF 28,339 million and of 
equipment was HUF 6,102 million, respectively. 
 
Liabilities to Credit Institutions at the end of 2019 were HUF 195,810 million, down 8.65% or 
HUF 18,530 million compared to HUF 214,340 million at the end of the previous year. The 
decrease was due to the HUF 30,509 million drop in money market deposits and HUF 1,508 
million in current and clearing accounts and the HUF 13,487 million increase in borrowings.  
The HUF 191,883 million borrowings represent a significant share of liabilities to credit 
institutions. 
 
The total of current and deposit accounts of customers at the end of 2019 was HUF 
1,226,529 million, showing a decrease of 10.61% or HUF 145,517 million compared to the 
previous year's HUF 1,372,046 million. The decrease is the result of the HUF 151,448 million 
decrease in corporate deposits and the HUF 5,931 million increase in retail deposits.  
The HUF 891,949 million corporate deposits represent a significant proportion of customer-
related current and deposit accounts. 
  
The total of Derivative financial liabilities recorded on the liability side at the end of 2019 
was HUF 44,263 million, an increase of 40.04% or HUF 12,655 million compared to HUF 
31,608 million at the end of the previous year. The increase is mainly due to changes in the 
fair value of derivatives related to interest rate and exchange rate risks. 
 
The other liabilities and provisions amounted to HUF 55,222 at the end of 2019, an increase 
of 14.04% or HUF 6,797 million compared to HUF 48,425 million at the end of the previous 
year. The increase is mainly due to the fact that from 2019 financial lease liabilities are 
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included in other liabilities instead of current and deposit accounts. The related increase is 
HUF 12,262 million, but a decrease of HUF 2,143 million in accruals and other liabilities and a 
HUF 2,509 million provision for guarantees and contingent liabilities were also decreasing 
items.  
The HUF 38,633 million accruals and other liabilities and HUF 12,262 million other lease 
liabilities represent a significant value in the other liabilities.  
 
The subordinated debt at the end of 2019 was HUF 39,381 million, up 40.64% or HUF 11,379 
million compared to HUF 28,002 million at the end of the previous year. 
The subordinated debt consists of subordinated debt securities. 
 
MKB Group's Equity increased to HUF 198,462 million by the end of 2019, a significant 
increase of 25.48% or HUF 40,296 million compared to HUF 158,166 million at the end of the 
previous year. The increase is the overall result of the increasing items of HUF 48,242 million 
and the decreasing items of HUF 7,946 million. The HUF 44,148 million profit after tax for 
the year 2019 and HUF 4,094 sold shares were increasing items while the HUF 4,665 million 
dividends paid in 2019 and other comprehensive income of HUF 3,281 million were 
decreasing items. 
 
Statement of income for the period 
 
The MKB Group achieved a HUF 44,148 million after-tax profit in 2019 which is 75.66%, or 
HUF 19,016 million higher than the HUF 25,132 million after-tax profit of the previous year 
even despite the EU commitments that fundamentally affect MKB's operations, and the 
successful completion of key projects and increasing market competition.  
 
The net interest income for 2019 amounted to HUF 40,797 million, an increase of 1.27% or 
HUF 523 million compared to HUF 41,320 million of the previous year. The decrease in 
interest income is mainly due to increased interest expenses of hedge transactions.  
Within the HUF 59,217 million interest income, interest on receivables from custmer 
accounts for HUF 30,918 million and within the interest expense of HUF 18,420 million the 
interest expense related to derivatives is HUF 13,338 million. 
 
The Net commission and fee income in 2019 amounted to HUF 27,316 million, an increase of 
5.43% or HUF 1,408 million compared to HUF 25,908 million in the previous year. The 
increase in net fee and commission income in 2019 was mainly due to the decrease in the 
expenses related to payment processing and account management services.  
Within the HUF 35,756 million commissions and fees, commission and fee income from 
services related to the execution of payment transactions and account management is the 
biggest item with HUF 20,976 million. Commission and fee expenses totalled HUF 8,440 
million in 2019, compared to HUF 9,581 million in the previous year. 

The Net other operating income for 2019 was HUF 10,108 million, an increase of 39.96% or 
HUF 2,886 million compared to the previous year's HUF 7,222 million. Compared to the 
previous year, the realised gains on trading securities increased significantly from HUF 3,965 
million to HUF 24,212 million, while profit from securities jumped from HUF 67 million to 
HUF 5,247 million. Compared to the previous year, realized gains from derivatives dropped 
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from HUF 10,374 million profit to HUF 10,801 million loss and the amount of foreign 
currency gains and losses decreased from HUF 12,330 million to HUF 9,011 million. 

Impairment losses of HUF 5,568 million were reversed and provisions of HUF 218 million 
were recognised in 2019 as a result of which a release of HUF 5,350 million occurred in the 
Group under the title of impairment loss and provisioning. The release, the significantly 
lower provisioning during the current period, resulted from the improving quality of the 
customer loan portfolio as a result of the portfolio separation. 

Banking expenses amounted to HUF 43,240 million in 2019, a decrease of 18.21% or HUF 
9,624 million compared to HUF 52,864 million in the previous year. The decrease is mainly 
due to the reduction of administrative costs and personnel expenses. 
 
 
The Group's capital position is stable. At the end of 2019, the consolidated capital adequacy 
ratio was 22,599%, which is significantly higher than the required minimum ratio plus 
mandatory buffers. The capital adequacy ratio shows an increase of over 464 bps compared 
to 2018. 
 
The principal figures in the Individual (Non-consolidated) and Consolidated Annual Financial 
Statements as at 31 December 2019 presented by the Board of Directors are as follows: 
 

                 HUF million 

Definition 
separate 

(non-consolidated) 
consolidated Difference 

Balance sheet total 1,772,456  1,759,796 -12,660 

Profit (loss) before 
taxation 

41,339 43,368 2,029 

Profit/loss after taxation 42,012 44,148 2,136 
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Agenda item No. 1.6 
 
 
 
 
 

THE REPORT OF THE AUDITOR ON THE 2019 SEPARATE (UNCONSOLIDATED) 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER IFRS 
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Agenda item No. 1.7 
 
 
 
 
 

THE REPORT OF THE AUDITOR ON THE 2019 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER IFRS 
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Agenda item No. 1.8 
 
 
 
 

 
ADOPTION OF DECISIONS REGARDING PERFORMANCE RELATED 

REMUNERATION FOR THE YEAR 2019 
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Reasoning: 
 

CORPORATE ASSESSMENT TARGET INDEX EVALUATION 
 
The Corporate Assessment Index is an economic indicator used to measure the Bank's 
economic performance or risk management based on a scoring system. 
 
At MKB Bank Group level, performance-related performance assessment is based on the 
target value (expressed in points) of the Corporate Assessment Index for the current year. 
Performance Remuneration is not payable if the index does not reach the target level.  
 
The target value of the Corporate Assessment Index for a given year is based on the current 
annual business plan approved by MKB Bank's Board of Directors. The target value of the 
Corporate Assessment Index for the current year (the Corporate Assessment Target Index) is 
decided by the Chairman and CEO of MKB Bank.  
 
Based on a proposal from the Remuneration Working Group of Bank Experts as defined in 
the Remuneration Policy under the Credit Institutions Act, the Chairman and CEO of MKB 
Bank may adjust the target value of the Corporate Assessment Index for the current year 
following any regulatory change and/or change in any market condition that has a significant 
impact on the consolidated profit of the MKB Bank Group and the achievement of the target 
or the underlying business plan.  
 
The chairman and CEO of MKB Bank decides on the realization of the target of the Corporate 
Assessment Index for the current year. The decision is confirmed by the Board of Directors 
of MKB Bank at a meeting prior to the Annual General Meeting of the following year and by 
the Annual General Meeting of the following year.  
 
At MKB Bank Group level, performance-related performance assessment is based on the 
target value (expressed in points) of the Corporate Assessment Index for the current year. 
The remuneration policy defines the process and objectives of the calculation of the 
Corporate Assessment Index. 
 
During the reporting year, the Company continuously monitors the development of the 
Group Corporate Assessment Index, and when if it discovers that the current value of the 
Corporate Assessment Index differs significantly from the target value, it may initiate an ex-
ante risk assessment by notifying the working group. 
 
Based on a proposal from the Working Group the Chairman and CEO of MKB Bank may 
adjust the target value of the Group Corporate Assessment Index for the current year 
following any regulatory change and/or change in any market condition that has a significant 
impact on the consolidated profit of the MKB Bank Group and the achievement of the target 
or the underlying business plan.  
 
The payment of performance remuneration depends on the following three factors: 

• Completion of the gross profit plan 
• Completion of the operating cost plan 
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• Completion of the risk cost plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
The Company has calculated some components of the Corporate Assessment Index for the 
2019 period: 
 
The corporate assessment target index is considered to be achieved if the score determined 
on the basis of the achievement of the three components has reached 100. Based on the 
achievement of the three components, the index was 175 points for 2019. 
 
Based on the above, the CEO noted that the corporate assessment target index for the 
2019 financial year has been achieved in the plan numbers that serve as the basis for the 
payment of the 2019 performance remunerations. The decision of the Chairman and CEO 
was confirmed by the Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors and the Supervisory 
Board. 
 
Proposal to the General Meeting 
 
It is a proposed to the General Meeting to confirm the relevant decision of the Chairman 
and CEO stating that the corporate assessment target index has been achieved for the 
2019 financial year. 
 
 
EX POST RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
The deferred instalments in performance remuneration for identified individuals falling 
within the scope of the Remuneration Policy under the Credit Institutions Act may be made 
paid out in each due year of the payment cycle, following a subsequent risk assessment. 
 
Based on the values of the criteria of prudential operation, in the framework of ex-post risk 
assessment, MKB Bank's chairman and CEO decides at Group level on the payment of the 
deferred instalment due according to the payment cycle and assesses the risks that may 
arise at the level of the Bank Group, subsidiaries and organisational units during the 
reporting year, and, in relation to the identified person, the Working Group shall assess the 

MKB Group B closing

(YTD, HUF m, IFRS )

2019_12 

plan

2019_12 

actual B 

closing

2019_12 

Actual / Plan

Total points 

adjusted by plan 

performance

Gross profit (loss) 73 901        83 579       113,10% 45                        

Operating expenses* (38 219)       (39 762)     104,04% 30                        

Risk Cost** (8 415)         3 450         140,99% 100                       

175                       

*The operating cost does not include the banking tax

**Risk Cost: reversal (savings) instead of the planned recognition
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individual risks associated with the identified person's activities during the year, based on 
the following criteria: 

 fulfilment of the obligations arising from the legal relationship,  

 compliance with applicable laws, internal regulations, management regulations, 
applicable professional standards, and  

 meeting the employers' expectations for the identified person's managerial 
behaviour. 

 
Unless an assessment of the individual risks associated with the identified person's 
performance indicates that the deferred instalment of the identified person's performance 
remuneration due according to the payment cycle needs to be reduced (or, ultimately, 
completely removed), the Working Party will not propose ex post risk assessment. 
 
From the end of the performance evaluation process, consideration should be given 
throughout the remainder of the deferral period to the effects that may be attributable to 
the identified persons' activities in the current year and, where appropriate, the amount of 
the granted performance remuneration payable with or without deferred payment shall be 
reduced within the framework of ex post risk assessment. 
 
The deferred instalments may be made paid out in each due year of the payment cycle, 
following a subsequent risk assessment. 
  
The 2017 and 2018 working group evaluation did not reveal any circumstance or risk based 
on an assessment of the individual risks associated with the activities of identified individuals 
that would result in a reduction in the deferred instalment of the identified individuals' 
performance remuneration due in the payment cycle therefore the working group has 
proposed that the deferred and withheld amounts due in accordance with the payment 
cycle should be paid as planned to the identified employees concerned, which has been 
approved by the chairman and CEO. The decision of the Chairman and CEO was confirmed 
by the Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board. 
 
Proposal to the General Meeting 
 
It is proposed to the General Meeting to confirm the relevant decision of the chairman and 
CEO, stating that, based on the ex-post risk assessment, there was no individual risk for 
the activities of identified persons for the 2017 and 2018 financial years. 
 
 
APPROVAL OF SHARE-BASED PERFORMANCE REMUNERATION COMPONENTS FOR THE 
IDENTIFIED PERSONS OF MKB BANK PLC. FOR THE YEAR 2019 
 
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of MKB Bank Plc, which entered into force with the 
admission of MKB Bank Plc. to the stock exchange, the General Meeting is competent to 
approve the elements of share-based remuneration schemes.  
 
The Company provides the share-based remuneration component representing 50% of the 
performance remuneration of individuals falling within the scope of the remuneration policy 
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under the Hpt. in the form of a share price linked instrument (purchase right) by entering 
into an agreement on call option with the MKB Bank ESOP Organisation for financial 
settlement. There is no additional cost for the Company in applying the share-based 
remuneration scheme. 
 
Proposal to the General Meeting 
 
It is proposed to the General Meeting to approve the share-based remuneration 
components of MKB Bank Plc's remuneration scheme in the form of a share price-linked 
instrument (i.e., not an actual share allocation). 
 
 
DECISIONS RELATING TO REMUNERATION OF THE CHAIRMAN AND CEO AND THE DEPUTY 
CEOs  
 

The remuneration of the chairman and CEO and deputy CEOs falls within the exclusive 
competence of the General Meeting. While exercising this power, the General Meeting 
determines that the chairman and CEO and the deputy CEOs are entitled to performance 
remunerations for the 2019 financial year. The Remuneration Committee prepares the 
General Meeting's decision on their performance remuneration.  
 
The Remuneration Committee examined the 2019 targets set for chairman and CEO dr. 
Ádám Balog, and deputy CEOs András Bakonyi, dr. András Csapó, Ildikó Ginzer, Csaba 
Fenyvesi and János Nyemcsok and concluded that they were met and recommends that the 
General Meeting establish the eligibility of those named for performance remuneration. The 
decision of the Remuneration Committee was confirmed by the Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board. Personally affected board members were not involved in the decision. 
 
In the performance evaluation process, the objectives are formed like a ‘water cascade’. The 
total banking targets are broken down into each area's own targets, and then the 
employees' targets are determined based on them. Each set target must contribute to the 
achievement of the given higher-level target in order for the overall banking targets to be 
met. 
 
Overall banking targets for 2019: 
 
Compliance with EU commitments 

  

Consolidated balance sheet total (BS)  HUF 1,830 bln  

Total RWA   HUF 920 bln 

Credit risk RWA   HUF 760 bln  

Consolidated group headcount (FTE)  1985 FTE  

Cost / Income ratio (CIR)  52 % 

Fulfilment of all other non-numerical EU commitments  
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Corporate profitability 
  

Consolidated return on equity (ROE)  15.35% 

Adherence to cost owners’ budgets according to the financial 
plan approved by the BD 

  

 
Corporate values objectives 
 

 Cooperation  

 Commitment  

 Flexibility  

 Respect  

 Responsibility 
 
In addition to the above, an annual personal target has been set for the chairman and CEO 
and deputy CEOs. 
 
 
Proposal to the General Meeting 
 
It is proposed to the General Meeting to decide, on the basis of the assessment by the 
Remuneration Committee, that chairman and CEO dr. Ádám Balog, and deputy CEOs 
András Bakonyi, dr. András Csapó, Ildikó Ginzer, Csaba Fenyvesi and János Nyemcsok are 
entitled to performance remunerations for the year 2019. 
 
It is further proposed that the General Meeting request the Remuneration Committee, 
with respect to persons subject to the Remuneration Policy under the Credit Institutions 
Act, to decide, based on the provisions of MKB Bank Plc’s Remuneration Policy under the 
Hpt., on the amount of the performance remuneration to be paid to chairman and CEO dr. 
Ádám Balog, and deputy CEOs András Bakonyi, dr. András Csapó, Ildikó Ginzer, Csaba 
Fenyvesi and János Nyemcsok for the year 2019.  
 
The General Meeting should also declare that, based on the ex-post risk assessment, there 
was no individual risk relating to the activities of the chairman and CEO and the deputy 
CEOs for the 2017 and 2018 years, therefore, the deferred and withheld instalments of the 
performance remuneration due in accordance with the payment cycle may be paid out to 
them in accordance with the provisions of MKB Bank Plc’s Remuneration Policy under the 
Hpt.  
 
The General Meeting should call on the Remuneration Committee to set targets for the 
year 2020 for the chairman and CEO and deputy CEOs, along with the company's 2020 
business policy and overall banking objectives. 
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Proposed general meeting resolutions: 
 

1. 
The General Meeting approves the Board of Directors' report on the 2019 business activities 

and, accepts - being aware of the reports of the Supervisory Board and the Auditor - the 
separate (non-consolidated) and consolidated financial statements for 2019 prepared in 

accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU as well 
as the proposal concerning the distribution of profit and the payment of dividends. 

 
The General Meeting establishes the separate (non-consolidated) balance sheet of MKB Bank 

Plc. according to International Accounting Standards 2019 with the following main figures: 
 

BALANCE SHEET TOTAL: HUF 1,772,456 million 
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION: HUF 41,339 million 

 
The General Meeting establishes the consolidated balance sheet of MKB Bank Group 

according to International Accounting Standards 2019 with the following main figures: 
 

BALANCE SHEET TOTAL: HUF 1,759,796 million 
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION: HUF 43,368 million 

 
Having recognised the MNB's decision published on 19 March and 20 March 2020 in relation 

to the emergency situation resulting from the coronavirus epidemic and its effects on the 
financial intermediary sector, the General Meeting has decided to retain the distributable 

profit from the after-tax profits. The General Meeting reserves the right to amend this 
resolution after the 30 September 2020 deadline specified in the resolution of the National 

Bank of Hungary.   
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2. 
The General Meeting confirms the relevant decision of the chairman and CEO, stating that 

the corporate assessment target index has been achieved for the 2019 financial year. 
 

The General Meeting also confirms the relevant decision of the chairman and CEO, stating 
that, according to the ex-post risk assessment, there was no individual risk related to the 

activities of the persons covered by the scope of the remuneration policy under the Credit 
Institutions Act for the financial years 2017 and 2018. 

 
The General Meeting approves the share-based remuneration component of MKB Bank Plc’s 

remuneration scheme in the form of a share price linked asset (i.e., not an actual share 
bonus) as proposed. 

 
The General Meeting confirms and approves that, in connection with the approval of the 

financial statements for the year 2019, chairman and CEO, dr. Ádám Balog, and deputy CEOs 
András Bakonyi, dr. András Csapó, Ildikó Ginzer, Csaba Fenyvesi and János Nyemcsok are 

entitled to performance remunerations for the 2019 financial year.  
 

The General Meeting requests the Remuneration Committee, with respect to persons 
subject to the Remuneration Policy under the Credit Institutions Act, to decide, based on the 

provisions of MKB Bank Plc’s Remuneration Policy under the Hpt., on the amount of the 
performance remuneration to be paid to chairman and CEO dr. Ádám Balog, and deputy 

CEOs András Bakonyi, dr. András Csapó, Ildikó Ginzer, Csaba Fenyvesi and János Nyemcsok 
for the year 2019. The General Meeting also declares that, based on the ex-post risk 

assessment, there was no individual risk relating to the activities of the chairman and CEO 
and the deputy CEOs for the 2017 and 2018 years, therefore, the deferred and withheld 
instalments of the performance remuneration due in accordance with the payment cycle 

may be paid out to them in accordance with the provisions of MKB Bank Plc’s Remuneration 
Policy under the Hpt.  

 
The General Meeting calls on the Remuneration Committee to set targets for the year 2020 
for the chairman and CEO and deputy CEOs, along with the company's 2020 overall banking 

objectives. 
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Agenda item No. 2 
 
 
 
 
 

APPROVAL OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT FOR 2019 
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Reasoning: 
 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Civil Code (Section 3:289): the management board of a 
public limited company shall present to the annual general meeting the company 
governance and management report prepared according to the rules applicable to the actors 
of the given stock exchange. The General Meeting shall decide on the adoption of the report. 
The resolution of the general meeting and the report itself shall be published. 
 
Considering that MKB Bank Plc's shares were listed in the Budapest Stock Exchange (BSE) 
standard category on 30 June 2019, in accordance with market practice and the BSE 
Corporate Governance Recommendations (Recommendations), MKB prepared its first 
Corporate Governance Report (Report) which is included in Annex 1. 
 
MKB attaches great importance to the development and operation of a corporate 
governance system that complies with best market practice and ensures efficient and 
effective operation, and responsible corporate governance. MKB's governance structure 
takes into account regulatory, supervisory and stock exchange requirements as well as 
business specifics. MKB intends to comply as much as possible with the Corporate 
Governance Recommendations of the BSE.  
 
The BSE Corporate Governance Recommendations aim to formulate guidelines to help 
publicly traded companies (issuers) comply with internationally recognized rules and 
standards for corporate governance. The Recommendations also aim to make the corporate 
governance system transparent by disclosing information on the governance and operation 
of issuers.  
 
There are two ways for issuers to report on their corporate governance practices in their 
corporate governance report to the Annual General Meeting. They must, on the one hand, 
declare their corporate governance practices applied during the financial year and, on the 
other hand, clearly demonstrate their compliance with each of the points of the 
Recommendations. 
 
Following the above structure, the Corporate Governance Report of MKB consists of the 
following two parts: 
1. Declaration of the Corporate Governance practice 
2. Demonstration of compliance with each point of the Recommendations 
 
The Recommendations contain partly recommendations binding for all issuers and partly 
non-binding recommendations. Issuers may differ from mandatory recommendations and 
non-binding recommendations. In case of deviation from the recommendations, issuers are 
obliged to disclose the deviation in the corporate governance report and justify it ("comply 
or explain"). This allows issuers to take into account industry-specific or company-specific 
needs. Accordingly, an issuer deviating from the recommendation may, where appropriate, 
meet the requirements of corporate governance. In the case of proposals, issuers must 
indicate whether or not they are applying the directive and have the opportunity to justify 
deviations from the proposals. 
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If the practice followed by the issuer is the same as in the Recommendations, it should be 
marked YES in the report. If the issuer does not apply the recommendation or uses it in a 
different way, they must explain the actual deviation and explain why the deviation was 
made ("comply or explain" principle). This method allows the issuer to inform shareholders 
and market participants, in view of the unique and sectoral features prevailing for them, of 
the specificities of in what and why they depart from the general principles of corporate 
governance. Based on the same principle, it is also possible to justify deviations in the case 
of proposals. 
 
The principle and purpose of the Corporate Governance Report is to report on the 
company's previous business year and to what extent the issuer has complied with the 
Recommendations. However, the Recommendations may include recommendations and 
suggestions that relate to an event or event that did not occur at the issuer during that 
period. According to the practice to date, such "event type" questions can be answered YES 
even if no event occurred during the financial year (for example, no dividend was paid or no 
shareholder comments were received prior to the general meeting), but the company would 
have acted upon the occurrence of the event as stated in the Recommendation in 
accordance with its Articles of Association or practice. In such cases, the principle of 
transparent operation is most appropriate. 
 
The Recommendations contain 85 points, including 73 recommendations and 12 proposals. 
Based on the attached draft report, MKB is 92% compliant with the Recommendations. The 
BSE annually measures and publishes the compliance of listed companies with the 
Recommendations on an aggregate basis, which was 73% in 2018.  
 
In the draft report referred to in the proposal MKB currently does not want or only partially 
complies with the relevant recommendations in 6 cases out of the 75 recommendations and 
has a negative response to 1 out of 12 proposals. The "No" answers are detailed below.  
 
 
Proposal 1.1.3: The company's Articles of Association allow the shareholder to exercise their 
voting rights even in their absence. 
 
Question to be answered: Does the company's Articles of Association allow the shareholder 
to exercise their voting rights even in their absence? 
 
Response: No 
 
Reasoning: If such a demand arises from the shareholders, the company will examine the 
feasibility. 
 
 
Recommendation 1.1.4: Where the Articles of Association permit shareholders to exercise 
their rights in their absence, the company shall disclose the ways and conditions of such 
exercise, including any necessary documentation.  
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Question to be answered: If the Articles of Association of the company allow shareholders to 
exercise their rights in their absence, has the company published on its website the 
modalities and conditions, including the necessary documents? 
 
Response: No 
 
Reasoning: See the justification given in section 1.1.3 
 
 
Recommendation 1.2.6: The company does not restrict the possibility for a shareholder to 
have a separate representative per securities account for any shares held on these securities 
accounts for any general meeting when a shareholder has more than one securities account. 
Where a shareholder is represented by more than one representative and they vote or make 
statements differently from each other, the votes or declarations made by each of them shall 
be null and void.  
 
Question to be answered: The company has not restricted a shareholder from appointing a 
separate representative per securities account for any general meeting.  
 
Response: No 
 
Reasoning: If such a demand arises from the shareholders, the company will examine the 
feasibility. 
 
 
Recommendation 1.3.8.2: In the case of executive officers or members of the supervisory 
board nominated with shareholder support, the company should also be informed of the 
identity of the supporting shareholder(s) when presenting the candidate.  
 
Question to be answered: In the case of executive officers and supervisory board members 
nominated for shareholder support, the company has provided information on the identity 
of the supporting shareholder(s).  
 
Response: No 
 
Reasoning: The nomination is in accordance with Hpt. 
 
 
Recommendation 1.5.6:  The company prepares information ("Statement of 
Remuneration") for owners on the principles and effective remuneration of the members of 
the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the management, with the content and 
level of detail required by the applicable sectoral legislation (‘Remuneration Declaration’), 
which shall be submitted to the general meeting. The remuneration declaration shall include 
the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board as 
well as the guidelines according to which their activities are evaluated and their 
remuneration is determined. The information includes details on the remuneration of the 
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board, explains the fixed and variable components, 
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other benefits, description of the principles of the remuneration system and any significant 
changes from the previous financial year.  
 
Question to be answered: The company prepared information (Remuneration Declaration) 
for owners on the principles and effective remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors, the Supervisory Board and the management, with the content and level of detail 
required by the applicable sectoral legislation (‘Remuneration Declaration’), which was 
submitted to the general meeting. The remuneration declaration includes the remuneration 
of the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board as well as the guidelines 
according to which their activities are evaluated and their remuneration is determined. The 
information includes details on the remuneration of the Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board, explains the fixed and variable components, other benefits, description of 
the principles of the remuneration system and any significant changes from the previous 
financial year. 
 
Response: No 
 
Reasoning: The Bank publishes information on the remuneration principles and actual 
remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the 
Identified Persons in accordance with the applicable sectoral regulations, the 
recommendations of the MNB, EBA and ESMA, and discloses them with the required 
information. 
 
 
Recommendation 1.6.10: Preserving the confidentiality of business and other confidential 
information protected by legal and regulatory provisions regarding confidentiality, the 
company discloses any relationship between a member of the Board of Directors, 
Supervisory Board and management and third parties that may affect the operation of the 
company.  
 
Question to be answered:  Has the company disclosed any relationship between a member 
of the Board of Directors, Supervisory Board and management and third parties that may 
affect the operation of the company? 
 
Response: No 
 
Reasoning: The Company manages conflicts of interest in accordance with applicable laws 
and recommendations of the MNB, EBA, ESMA. 
 
 
Recommendation: 2.4.2.1 "It shall be the responsibility of the Chair of the Board of Directors 
or the Supervisory Board to make the agenda and proposals available to members at least 
five working days before the meeting, in order to allow for accurate and effective decision-
making." 
 
Question to be answered: Have board members accessed the proposals of the given 
meeting at least five working days in advance? 
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Response: No 
 
Reasoning: The company partially complies. The general practice is in line with the 
recommendation, but it is possible, however, to grant a shorter deadline with the approval 
of the chair of the board, where justified. 
 

* * * 
 

Proposed general meeting resolution: 
 

The General Meeting approves the Corporate Governance Report for 2019. 
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Agenda item No. 3 
 
 
 
 

 
DECISION ON GRANTING DISCHARGE OF LIABILITY TO BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AND SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBERS 
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Reasoning: 
 
At the 2019 Annual General Meeting, the General Meeting granted to all members of the 
Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board having a membership status between January 
1 and December 31, 2018 the Civil Code the hold-harmless warrant specified in Section 
3:117(1) of the Civil Code for that period. In addition, with the termination of their 
membership, the General Meeting also granted a hold-harmless warrant to members of the 
Board of Directors János Jaksa and Zsolt Drabik and to the members of the Supervisory 
Board  dr. Mihály Barcza, Tamás Szemerey and dr. Lovászi Ádám Tóth for 2019 until the 
termination of their membership in its General Meeting resolution 24/2019 (26 April). 
 
In this proposal, we propose the General Meeting also granting a hold-harmless warrant to 
members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board for the period from 1 January 
2019 to 31 December 2019.  
 
Pursuant to Section 3:117 (1) of the Civil Code7 the highest organ of the company (i.e. the 
General Meeting) can establish the adequacy of the management activities of the members 
of the Board of Directors and the control activities of the members of the Supervisory Board 
during the effective term of their legal relationship by granting them the hold-harmless 
warrant. 
 
If the company’s supreme body provides a hold-harmless warrant, the company may only 
bring action against the executive officers on the grounds of breaching management 
(control) obligations in a claim for damages if the facts and information underlying the hold-
harmless warrant proved to be false or incomplete. 
 
Granting the hold-harmless warrant falls within the exclusive competence of the General 
Meeting. 
 

                                                 

7Section 3:117 [Liability of executive officers to the business association for damages] 
(1) If the company’s supreme body provides a hold-harmless warrant to an executive officer at the time of 

approval of the financial report, thus acknowledging the executive officer’s management activities during the 
previous financial year, the company may bring action against the executive officer on the grounds of 
breaching management obligations in a claim for damages if the facts and information underlying the hold-
harmless warrant proved to be false or incomplete. 

(2) If an executive officer is removed from office in between two meetings debating the financial report, the 
executive officer may request the supreme body’s decision for the issue of a hold-harmless warrant in the next 
session. 
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Proposed general meeting resolution: 
 

The General Meeting concludes that the management activities of the following members of 
the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board were satisfactory for the following period, 
and therefore grants the hold-harmless warrant to them pursuant to Section 3:117 of Act V 

of 2013 on the Civil Code: 
 

Members of the Board of Directors: 
 

dr. Ádám Balog: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2019 
dr. András Csapó: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2019 

Márk Hetényi: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2019 
Imre Kardos: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2019 

Balázs Nyitrai: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2019 
 

Members of the Supervisory Board: 
 

Ágnes Hornung: 28 February 2019 - 31 December 2019 
Rita Feodor: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2019 

Albert Godena: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2019 
dr. László Ipacs: 25 February 2019 - 31 December 2019 

Ferenc Müller: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2019 
János Nyemcsok: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2019 

András Törtel Oszlányi: 25 February 2019 - 31 December 2019 

 
  



Documentation of the Annual General Meeting of MKB Bank Plc. to be held on 17 April 2020 

 

 
75 

 

Agenda item No. 4 
 
 
 
 
 

NON-BINDING VOTING STIPULATED BY ACT NO. LXVII OF 2019 (HRSZTV.) ON 
THE REMUNERATION POLICY PREPARED UNDER THE SAME ACT 
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Reasoning: 
 

 
The purpose of the Remuneration Policy for Directors is to comply with Act LXVII of 2019 on 
the encouragement of long-term shareholder involvement and the amendment of certain 
laws for the purpose of legal harmonization (Hrsz.) and enable MKB Bank Plc. to establish a 
remuneration policy for all directors falling within the scope of Hrsz. Pursuant to Section 2 
(2) of Hrsz, the following positions held in MKB Bank Plc shall fall within the scope of the 
Remuneration Policy for Directors: Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Deputy CEOs, 
members of the Board of Directors and members of the Supervisory Board (together: 
"Directors"). 
 
The Remuneration Policy for Directors has been prepared in accordance with Hrsz and the 
sectoral remuneration legislation governing MKB Bank Plc. 
 
Pursuant to Section 16 (5), directors may only be remunerated on the basis of the 
Remuneration Policy for Directors submitted to the General Meeting for a non-binding 
voting.  
 
If the General Meeting rejects the proposed Remuneration Policy for Directors in a non-
binding voting, the Company shall submit the revised Remuneration Policy to the next 
General Meeting for a repeated opinion expressing vote. 
 

* * * 
 

Proposed general meeting resolution: 
 

The General Meeting has approved the remuneration policy under Act LXVII of 2019 (Hrsztv.) 
in a non-binding voting. 
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Agenda item No. 5 
 
 
 
 
 

ELECTION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
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Reasoning: 
 
The BD membership of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Dr. Adam Balog, and deputy 
CEO dr. András Csapó expires on 22 July 2020, and external member Márk Hetényi, resigned 
on 26 March 2020. 
 
Pursuant to Section 3.6.1. of the Articles of Association, the Chief Executive Officer and the 
delegated deputy(ies) shall, by their election by the General Meeting, be internal members 
of the Board of Directors. Executive officers of the Company may be elected as internal 
members of the Board of Directors. Election of the chair and members of the Board of 
Directors falls within the exclusive competence of the General Meeting. 
 
It is proposed to the General Meeting to elect dr. Ádám Balog, as a member of the Board of 
Directors with a mandate for 5 more years and to confirm its resolution of 17 January 2019 
as well as re-elect chairman and CEO dr. Ádám Balog as the chair of the Board of Directors 
for the term of his Board of Directors membership. 
 
Based on the nomination of the chairman and CEO it is also proposed that András Csapó 
should be be re-elected to the Board of Directors for a further 5 years.  
 
Dr. Balog Ádám and dr. András Csapó have been working at MKB Bank since 2015 and have 
been key managers in successfully reorganizing the bank and restoring its profitable 
operations. Based on their professional careers and successful work at MKB Financial Group, 
both of them have the knowledge, skills, high level human and managerial competence, 
managerial and professional experience, diverse academic background, extensive business 
experience, and credibility required for board memberships.  
 
Márk Hetényi and Balázs Nyitrai external Board of Directors members resigned. The 
resignation of Balázs Nyitrai will take effect on the day the first member of the newly elected 
external board members takes office. 
  
Based on the proposal of Blue Robin Investments S.C.A. shareholder, it is proposed to the 
General Meeting to elect Mr. Mihály Valkó and Mr. Marcell Takács as members of the Board 
of Directors. 
  
It is further proposed that two additional external members be elected to the Board of 
Directors, dr. Mrs. Gabriella Gombai and Mr Balázs Benczédi. 
  
Brief introduction of persons proposed for election: 
  
Mihály Valkó graduated from the Budapest University of Economics. He has nearly two 
decades of financial experience in the field of credit institutions, venture capital fund 
management and consulting. Currently he is the CEO of QUARTZ Befektetési Alapkezelő Zrt. 
  
Marcell Tamás Takács graduated from Budapest Corvinus University. He has nearly a 
decade of experience in transactional consulting.  Currently, managing director of Blue Robin 
Investments S.C.A. 
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dr. Gabriella Gombai graduated in law from Pázmány Péter Catholic University. She has 
more than ten years of experience in credit institutions, mainly in the legal field. Currently 
she is the CEO of Talentis Consulting Zrt., member of the Board of Directors of Opus Global 
Befektetési Alapkezelő Zrt. and member of the Supervisory Board of Mátra Energy Holding 
Zrt. 
  
Balázs Benczédi graduated from the College of Finance and Accounting. He has almost thirty 
years of experience in credit institutions and investment services and has been a member of 
the Board of Directors of ING Bank, Pannonia Alapkezelő and formerly MKB Bank. He is 
currently the CEO of MKB-Pannónia Alapkezelő and member of the Board of Directors. 
  
  
The Nomination Committee - evaluating the individual suitability of the candidates and the 
collective capacity of the Board of Directors - recommended the candidates to the General 
Meeting for election as members of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board acknowledged the nomination. 
 
Candidates must also be approved by the National Bank of Hungary. 
 
 

* * * 
 

Proposed general meeting resolutions: 
 

The General Meeting elects the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer dr. Ádám Balog as a 
member of the Board of Directors from 23 July 2020 to July 22, 2025, subject to the 

condition that he may take up his position when the authorisation of the National Bank of 
Hungary has been granted to dr. Ádám Balog. The General Meeting also confirms the 

General Meeting Resolution 11/2019 (17 January) and re-elects chairman and CEO dr. Ádám 
Balog as chair of the Board of Directors for the term of his Board of Directors membership. 

 
The General Meeting elects dr. András Csapó, Deputy Chief Executive Officer to the Board of 

Directors from 23 July 2020 to 22 July 2025, subject to the condition that taking on the 
position and entering into office is that the authorisation of National Bank of Hungary is also 

available for dr. András Csapó. 
 

The General Meeting elects Mr. Mihály Valkó to the members of the Board of Directors of 
MKB Bank Nyrt. for a definite term of 5 (five) years, subject to the condition that his position 

shall enter into force from the date on which the National Bank of Hungary grants its 
permission to his election. 

 
The General Meeting elects Mr. Marcell Takács to the members of the Board of Directors of 
MKB Bank Nyrt. for a definite term of 5 (five) years, subject to the condition that his position 

shall enter into force from the date on which the National Bank of Hungary grants its 
permission to his election. 
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The General Meeting elects dr. Gabriella Gombai to the members of the Board of Directors 
of MKB Bank Nyrt. for a definite term of 5 (five) years, subject to the condition that her 

position shall enter into force from the date on which the National Bank of Hungary grants 
its permission to her election. 

 
The General Meeting elects Mr. Balázs Benczédi to the members of the Board of Directors of 
MKB Bank Nyrt. for a definite term of 5 (five) years, subject to the condition that his position 

shall enter into force from the date on which the National Bank of Hungary grants its 
permission to his election. 
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Agenda item No. 6 
 
 
 
 
 

THE REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE BUSINESS POLICY OF THE 
COMPANY FOR 2020 
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Report of the Board of Directors on the business policy of Company for 2020 

The goal is for the MKB Group to become a leading domestic financial group with a well-
established, stable and sustainable business model, a well-prosperous and efficient 
operating model based on the highest possible application of digitisation.  

For the Group, the year 2020 is about closing EU commitments and growth opportunities 
above the market average. Maintaining the results achieved by 2019 will continue to be a 
priority: maintaining strict cost control, increasing risk-conscious credit portfolio, and 
implementing further digital developments. 

After the closure of EU commitments, the goal is to expand staff and services to support 
growth in operating revenues. By eliminating external constraints following the successful 
completion of the restructuring period, the bank - in a sustainable, risk-conscious manner - 
may be on a growing path from 2020 onwards. 

In line with its announced strategy, MKB aims to play a key role in the domestic financial 
services market in the future, in line with its professional experience, product range, quality 
of service, focused business model and digital capabilities, as:  

- in the retail segment, the objective is to expand the customer base and strengthen 
the role of the affluent and premium segments by building on the Bank's corporate 

relations and strategic partnerships, as well as to increase the contribution of the 
business to overall banking results and to strengthen the commission focus 

- building on the traditional values of MKB, our strategic goal is to develop our strong 
corporate business line, focusing on local knowledge, responsible professional 
service, advice-based sales and search for innovative solutions. 

- the MKB Finance Group offers wide range of investment banking services, such as 
Private Bank, Fund Management, Consulting, Capital Market and Transaction Advice, 
Fintechlab, Venture Capital Fund Management, MFB Points, Danube Capital and 
Treasury, in order to exploit more intensively the cooperation opportunities within 
the group. 

- MKB Financial Group is an open to collaboration, universal and complex group that 
serves its customers with a uniquely wide range of services, including its own banking 
products and services as well as the range of services provided by its subsidiaries and 
partners. The aim is to further strengthen the market position of our strategic 
subsidiaries, to enhance intra-group cooperation and improve the ancillary financial 
services. 
 

* * * 
 

Proposed general meeting resolution: 
 

The General Meeting approves the report of the Board of Directors on the Company's 
business policy for the year 2020. 
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Agenda item No. 7 
 
 
 
 
 

ELECTION OF THE AUDITOR AND ESTABLISHMENT OF THE AUDITOR’S 
REMUNERATION FOR THE 2020 AUDIT, APPROVAL OF THE PERSONS LIABLE 
FOR THE AUDIT AND DETERMINING THE CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT TO 

BE CONCLUDED WITH THE AUDITOR 
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Reasoning: 
 
6.1. ELECTION OF THE AUDITOR AND ESTABLISHING ITS REMUNERATION FOR 2020  
 
Pursuant to Section 155 (6) and (7) of the Accounting Act: 
 
 ‘(6) Where the auditing is statutory, the supreme body of the company must - at the time of 
approval of the annual report or simplified annual report of the previous financial year or, in 
respect of companies established without legal predecessor, prior to the balance sheet date 
of the financial year - appoint a registered auditor or audit firm in accordance with Section 
(7) to review the company’s annual report or simplified annual report on the financial year 
from the point of view of legitimacy and authenticity 
 (7) A member of the Hungarian Chamber of Auditors or an audit firm registered with the 
Hungarian Chamber of Auditors may be selected for the audit referred to in Section (6).’ 
  
Hpt., in addition to the above, it also imposes additional requirements on the credit 
institution auditor (financial institution rating, multiple conflict of interest requirements, 
etc.).  
 
Based on the above legal requirements and preliminary discussions with the current auditor 
of the Bank, we recommend that Deloitte Könyvvizsgáló és Tanácsadó Kft. be elected as the 
permanent auditor by 2020. 
  
As of the financial year 2012, Deloitte has been performed the work of the selected auditor 
of the MKB Group in accordance with the Hungarian National Standards on Auditing. In the 
past, there has always been efficient and effective professional cooperation with the 
auditor, and mutually constructive and partner working relationships have been established 
through joint work, which does not justify a change of auditor. In addition, a possible switch 
would mean an additional resource burden for the Bank's organisation, which should be 
avoided at the present time in view of strategic projects. 
 
The audit fee shall include the examination of the following: 
- auditing the separate (non-consolidated) and consolidated financial statements for 

the year 2020, prepared in accordance with IFRS rules, 
- audit of CRR report based on Act CCXXXVII of 2013 on Credit Institutions and 

Financial Enterprises (‘Hpt.’) and Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council on prudential requirements for credit institutions and 
investment firms (‘CRR’),  

- examination of the information and data to be disclosed in accordance with the 
recommendations of the National Bank of Hungary (‘MNB’) and the issuance of a 
so-called ‘Special Compliance Report’ (Compliance repot) for the Authority (MNB) 
to provide limited assurance  

 
Deloitte's annual audit fee for the financial year 2020 (including the preparation and of the 
auditor's additional report to be submitted to the National Bank of Hungary as described 
above, and the review of the data and information to be disclosed as required under the 
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Hpt., CRR, and MNB and publishing a report of limited assurance on it) is maximized at HUF 
120 million + VAT. 
 
In addition to the regular audit work for 2020, the Company intends to enter into a 
framework agreement for ad hoc tasks up to a maximum annual amount of HUF 50 
million+VAT, which is optional: 

 preparation of quarterly due diligence report(s) (to be submitted to the MNB for 
approval of capital adjustment), and   

 auditing the MKB Group's interim (semi-annual) consolidated financial statements. 
 
Deloitte also provides audit services major subsidiaries of the Bank involved in consolidation, 
according to their offer, the amount they are expected to receive will not exceed HUF 30 
million+VAT. 

 
 

6.2. APPROVAL OF THE APPOINTMENT OF THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR AUDITING 
 
The audit firm has nominated Zoltán Mádi-Szabó registered auditor (membership certificate 
number of the Chamber of Hungarian Auditors: 007623, registration number: 003247) and, 
in the event he is impeded in his duties, Tamás Horváth registered auditor (membership 
certificate number of the Chamber of Hungarian Auditors: 004660, registration number: 

003449) as the natural persons performing and responsible for the auditing of MKB Bank 
Plc. in 2020.  
 
We recommend the approval of the person responsible for auditing and his deputy to the 
General Meeting based on the nomination of the audit firm. 
 
 
6.3. APPROVAL OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT TO BE CONCLUDED 
WITH THE AUDITOR 
 
Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Civil Code, the General Meeting shall determine 
the terms and conditions of the contract to be concluded with the auditor simultaneously 
with the appointment of the Company’s auditor. The contract with the appointed auditor 
shall be concluded within ninety days of their appointment. The assignment contract with 
the permanent auditor for the performance of the audit shall be concluded with the 
approval of the Board of Directors, subject to the following main conditions determined by 
the General Meeting: 
 
Auditor: 
 
Pursuant to Sections 6.1 and 6.2  
 
Remuneration of the Auditor: 
 
Pursuant to 6.1  
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Subject matter of the Contract:  
 

 auditing of the individual (non-consolidated) and consolidated financial statements of 
MKB Bank Plc. for 2020 prepared according to the international accounting standards 
(IFRS) and the preparation of the related independent Auditor’s reports 

 auditing of the disclosures (CRR Report) under the requirements of Regulation (EU) 
No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council 

 preparation of the Auditor's Special Report (Compliance Report) to be sent to the 
National Bank of Hungary 

 Issuing of the Management Letter 
 
Term of the contract:  
 
Fixed term, 1 year.  
 
Effective date of the contract:  
 
The date on which the Board of Directors approves the assignment contract to be concluded 
within 90 days of the auditor's appointment. 
 
Date of termination of contract:  
 
The date of approval by the General Meeting of the Annual Report and accounts under the 
Accounting Act for the Financial Year ending 31 December 2020 and, if the auditor is re-
appointed, the day prior to the effective date of the new contract to be concluded with the 
auditor. 
 
Miscellaneous provisions: 
 
The Company may also commission the auditor to perform other tasks within the framework 
of separate contracts, including but not limited to:  

• Business consultancy and participation in due diligence procedures; 
• Project management, execution of tasks and quality assurance of strategic projects;  
• Other consultancy in the fields of business, risk, bank security, accounting, reporting 

and taxation; 
• Trainings. 
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Proposed general meeting resolutions: 
 

For the 2020 business year the General Meeting appoints Deloitte Könyvvizsgáló és 
Tanácsadó Kft-t (Cg 01-09-071057, Hungarian Chamber of Auditors Registration Number: 
000083, hereinafter: ‘Deloitte’) as the Company's permanent auditor, and sets the annual 
audit fee for Deloitte for the 2020 business year at a maximum of HUF 120 million + VAT 
(including the preparation of a separate auditor's report to be submitted to the National 

Bank of Hungary in accordance with the Hpt., and the examination of the information and 
data to be made public in accordance with the provisions of the Hpt., the CRR or the MNB, 

and the provisions of a limited assurance report). 

The General Meeting approves an additional amount of up to HUF 50 million + VAT for the 
preparation of the quarterly due diligence report(s) (to be submitted to the MNB for 

approval of the capital adjustment) and the auditing of the consolidated interim balance 
sheet of MKB Group of 30 June 2020 in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The General Meeting also authorises the Deputy Chief Executive for Finance and Operations 
and the Purchasing Directorate to negotiate the conclusion of the assignment contract with 

the auditor. The final amount of the assignment contract and its conclusion shall be 
determined by the Board of Directors within the limits determined by the General Meeting. 

In accordance with the proposal of the audit firm, the General Meeting approves the 
appointment of Zoltán Mádi-Szabó registered auditor (membership certificate number of 
the Chamber of Hungarian Auditors: 007623, registration number: 003247) as the person 

responsible for the auditing of MKB Bank Plc. in 2020. 
 

In accordance with the proposal of the audit firm, the General Meeting approves the 
appointment of Tamás Horváth registered auditor (membership certificate number of the 

Chamber of Hungarian Auditors: 004660, registration number: 003449) as the person 
responsible for the auditing of MKB Bank Plc. for 2020 in the event Zoltán Mádi-Szabó 

registered auditor (membership certificate number of the Chamber of Hungarian Auditors: 
007623, registration number: 003247) is impeded in his duties. 

 
According to the submission, the General Meeting approves the terms and conditions of the 
Company contract to be concluded with the auditor, and at the same time invites the Board 
of Directors to conclude the corresponding assignment contract with the appointed auditor 

within 90 days of their appointment, on behalf of MKB Bank Plc.  
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Agenda item No. 8 
 
 
 
 
 

REMUNERATION OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORY BOARD 
MEMBERS 
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Reasoning: 
 

The General Meeting has the exclusive competence to determine the election and 
remuneration of the Chairman and members of the Board of Directors, the Chairman and 
members of the Supervisory Board and the members of the Audit Committee. 
 
At the extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 January 2019, the Shareholders decided to 
significantly reduce the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board - with the aim of meeting the cost reduction requirements necessary to 
achieve the strategic goals of MKB - with the following resolution: 
 

“General Meeting Resolution 12/2019 (17 January) 
The General Meeting determines the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory 
Board and the Board of Directors - from the day of the entry into force of the election 
of new members, and from the day following the date of this General Meeting for 
existing members - for the period up to the date of approval of the annual report for 
2019 prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Accounting Act: 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board: gross HUF 1 million/month 
Members of the Supervisory Board: gross HUF 250,000/month 
Chairman of the Board of Directors: gross HUF 1 million/month 

External member of the Board of Directors: gross HUF 500,000/month 
Intrnal member of the Board of Directors: gross HUF 500,000/month 

 
If a member of the Board of Directors or the Supervisory Board is also a member of 
any of the committees the establishment of which is a statutory requirement of the 
Company (Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Risk Committee, Nomination 
Committee) then the member shall receive further gross HUF 100 thousand 
remuneration a month irrespective of the number of the committees in which they are 
a member. 

 
The General Meeting approves that the honorary fees for membership in the 
Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors should be paid (transferred and credited 
to the bank account) in line with the wage accounting practice of MKB Bank Zrt. i.e., 
on the second day of each month, simultaneously with the wages of the employee 
members of the Supervisory Board and the internal members of Board of Directors. 

 
It is proposed that the General Meeting, similarly to the previous year, continuing to take 
into consideration the cost-effectiveness efforts of MKB, set the remuneration for the 
members of the Supervisory Board and Board of Directors for the subsequent one year 
period at the same amount as approved at the extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 
January 2019.  
 

* * * 
 
 
 
 



Documentation of the Annual General Meeting of MKB Bank Plc. to be held on 17 April 2020 

 

 
90 

 

Proposed general meeting resolution: 
  

The General Meeting decides to keep the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory 
Board and the Board of Directors at the same amount as specified in General Meeting 

resolution 12/2019 (17 January) and with the payment practice for the period up to the date 
of approval of the annual report for 2020 prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 

Accounting Act. 
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Agenda item No. 9 
 
 
 
 
 

AMENDMENT OF THE RULES OF PROCEDURE OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 
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Reasoning: 
 
The amendments to the Articles of Association that were incorporated with the stock 
exchange listing have been included in the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board 
(Section 1.3).  
 
References to preference shares have been deleted from the text of the regulation, as with 
the stock exchange listing, preference shares ensuring the Board of Directors and Supervisory 
Board nomination of members have been converted into ordinary shares (Sections 2.2, 2.3 
and 3.1). 
  
The Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board have also been supplemented by the 
following based on the Corporate Governance Recommendations (hereinafter referred to by 
the Hungarian abbreviation: ‘FTA’) of the Budapest Stock Exchange (BÉT):  
 

 A member of the Supervisory Board must inform the Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board if they, or any persons in a business relationship with them or their 
relatives, have any interest in any transaction of the company (or any of its 
subsidiaries) that would render them not independent (second sentence of Section 
5.2). 

 The members of the Supervisory Board shall inform the Supervisory Board and the 
Nomination Committee if they are appointed as members of the board of directors or 
management of a company which is not a member of the company group (third 
sentence of Section 5.2).  

 
 
In addition, technical clarifications have been made throughout the Rules of Procedure 
(‘Supervisory Board’ as one word – not relevant in English version; numbering is uniform in 
numbers and letters; references to MKB as a company are always capitalised as ‘Company’). 
 

* * * 
 

Proposed general meeting resolution: 
 

The General Meeting approves the amendment of the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory 
Board according to the written proposal. 
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APPENDICES 
 
 

1. Separate Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s report (31 December 2019) 

2. Consolidated Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s report (31 December 2019) 

3. Corporate Governance Report 

4. Remuneration Policy of MKB Bank Plc. pursuant to the Hrsztv. 

5. Proposal for the amendment of the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board 

 

 


